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Tuesday, September 26, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:09 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  My name is Christine Long, and I will be presiding today.  Along with me are my fellow Board members, Cathy Spoel and Michael Janigan.


The matter before us today is an enforcement proceeding brought by the Ontario Energy Board against Active Energy Inc. under OEB file numbers EB-2017-002 (sic) and EB-2017-0223.


The allegations against Active Energy are set out in two notices of intention which were issued on May 25th and June 21st, 2017.  The notices of intention allege that Active Energy has contravened sections of the Energy Consumer Protection Act, 2010 and Ontario Regulation 389.10 made under the ECPA and sections of the Electricity Retailer Code of Conduct.


Because the allegations in the two notices of intention are similar in nature, the OEB has decided in the notice of proceeding -- Notice of Hearing and Procedural Order 1 to deal with them together in one combined proceeding.

The two parties, Active Energy and the OEB enforcement team, agreed to file written opening statements and an agreed statement of facts and witness statements in advance of today's hearing.  We have those and we have reviewed them.


May I have appearances, please.

Appearances:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Good morning, Madam Chair and members of the Panel.  Justin Safayeni for the OEB enforcement team.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Safayeni, good morning.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel members.  Ian Mondrow, Gowling WLG, appearing for Active Energy Inc., and to my left is Ms. Laura Van Soelen, a partner of mine.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. RICHLER:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Ian Richler.  I am counsel to the Board Panel.  With me is Michael Bell, the case manager.  And if I might just very briefly at the outset say a quick word about my role here.  I am here to assist you, the Panel, with any legal or procedural questions you may have.  I am non-partisan.  I was not involved in the preparation of the enforcement team's case against Active, and I have -- I am separate and apart from the enforcement team for the purposes of this proceeding.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.  Before we proceed, are there any preliminary matters that need to be dealt with?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes, Madam Chair, there are a few, mostly uncontested, one I would say quasi-contested, and one contested.  So I will go through them in that order, if I might.


MS. LONG:  Okay.


MR. SAFAYENI:  First, Madam Chair, you made reference to the Agreed Statement of Fact that has been filed.  The agreed statement of fact, the Panel members will be aware, contains copies of 101 contracts that are at issue in this proceeding at tab 18, and those contracts contain all manner of confidential customer information that has to be either redacted or otherwise not included in the public record.


The parties, I think jointly, would suggest that for the purposes of the public version of the ASF we simply omit tab 18 entirely.  Frankly, the redacted versions of those documents aren't going to shed any light on the issues in this proceeding, and the key issue in this proceeding doesn't really turn on any of the specific information, certainly not the redacted information in that tab.


So subject to the Panel's direction, of course, we would suggest that the public version of the document omit tab 18.  There are a few other redactions that need to be made in other tabs, and we will do so, but we wanted to await the Panel's direction on tab 18 before filing a public version of that document.


MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to have you go through your whole list.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  That's issue number one.


Issue number two, which is somewhat related, is that the parties have agreed that this matter can proceed as a public, open matter, and we are going to try our best not to make reference to specific confidential information that shouldn't be publicly broadcast.  And we'd suggest that, you know, if it does get into an area of questioning that requires getting any confidential information we can deal with it at that time, but we should start presumptively open.


Issue number three.  And I recognize some of these may have already come to the Panel's attention, but I just want go through them for the record.  The parties have agreed to proceed by way of written closing statements, again, subject to the Panel's direction, and of course, if after reviewing the written closings the Panel wants to schedule a brief oral argument to hear from the parties, that's in the Panel's discretion.  But in terms of a default proceeding on how to go about the closings, we would submit that written closings are an appropriate way to go in this case.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow, when I know don't hear from you I assume that you are in agreement.


MR. MONDROW:  Generally so far, Madam Chair.  I did have one qualification on tab 18.  I was assuming you'd want to hear from Mr. Safayeni, and then I would address each of them, and so far it's generally in agreement.


MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.


MR. SAFAYENI:  The next issue -- Madam Chair, you'd adverted to this, but just to be clear, the witness statements that were filed in advance were filed not yet as evidence.  We both agreed -- both sides agreed that it would make sense for the Panel to review them because we anticipate they will be adopted by the witnesses on the stand, and they can be entered formally as exhibits at that time.


Okay.  Now we get into the quasi -- quasi-contested issue, which is the question of scheduling or timing for the written closings, assuming that the Panel is content to proceed that way.


In terms of written closing argument, I've had discussions with my friend, and we haven't quite landed on a schedule.  I will let him speak for himself on the issue. All I will say is this:  The Panel may be aware that there is another enforcement proceeding starting next week.  I am also counsel on that case, and that extends for six days over the course of the next three weeks.  I have suggested getting my written closing filed by December 8th, which is essentially one week after the close of the next major enforcement proceeding.  I am the only counsel from my firm on this case.  That's the earliest I can reasonably get my written closings in, and I think that that's a very reasonable time estimate.


So in terms of a schedule, I would suggest that mine be due on December 8th for written closings, and I will leave my friend to discuss his own.


Should I continue to the contested issue?


MS. LONG:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  The contested issue only came to my attention yesterday.  I had assumed, as with, frankly, you know, every other hearing I have been involved with, that counsel would bring clean copies of documents that are marked as exhibits and they would put those documents to the witness if a question depended on it and the witness would review the document and answer.


My friend has advised me that his witnesses actually have their own copies of documents with markings and notations on it, and he wants his witnesses to use those copies of the documents.


I have two submissions to make on this point.  First of all, I think the idea of coming up there with a document with your own notations and markings on it is one that's foreign to me, and I think that's just on its face improper.  The whole idea is that a witness is supposed to give their own testimony, and if they are directed to a document they should be directed to a document that's in the record.


There are exceptions for witnesses who look at notes to refresh their memory or to recollect past events, but I don't think that's what's happening here.


So on that basis, I think that it's just improper, period.


The second point is, even if this is allowed to happen, at the very least, fairness demands, as it would in the case of notes for recollection or refreshing memory, that I am able to see those documents, that I get copies of them, that I inspect them, and I am able to cross-examine on them.


The idea of a witness going up there with a document that I have never seen with notes or markings or suggested answers, or whatever may be on it, and they get to testify on it is one that's just something I have never heard of.


So I have provided my friend with an excerpt from a book on courtroom procedure that simply makes this point.  I would be happy to provide the Panel with copies as well.  But this is an issue that I think we need to deal with at the outset, and it's one that goes to the fundamental fairness of the hearing, whether we are going to be all singing from the same hymn sheet when we are looking at documents, or whether some people are going to have their own versions that nobody else has seen before.


So I am happy to provide the Panel with that, if I may approach.


MS. LONG:  Let's mark those and provide it to the Panel.  Mr. Mondrow, you a copy?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Richler, are you marking the exhibits, or Mr. Bell?


MR. RICHLER:  I will.  We can mark that as --


MR. SAFAYENI:  I am in the Panel's hands, but I am not sure -- this is more of a legal authority, and I am not sure if we need to mark it as an exhibit.  I am happy to, but --


MS. LONG:  If you are going to speak to it, I’d like it on the record.


Mr. Mondrow, you have no objection to that, I take it?


MR. RICHLER:  We can number that Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Excerpt from Ontario Courtroom Procedure, 3rd edition


MR. SAFAYENI:  So it is a little bit lengthy and I am not going to -- I don't want to belabour this.  But I will just point you to a couple of key passages and, frankly, for my friends -- I provided my friend with a copy.  But for his benefit as well, I will just take you to a couple of key passages.


If we go to the second page, the page marked 928 from the text, it sets out the general rule.  When can a witness refer to a document?

“The general rule is that witnesses give their testimony relying on their memory and without reference to any documents.  A witness may not give testimony by reading prepared notes.”


And it talks about some exceptions to the rule, for example for expert witnesses, that we are not talking about here, and for self-represented parties, which we are not talking about here.


If you turn the page to 929, it talks about in cases where it would be appropriate to refer to notes, which is not this case, in my submission.  But it says under point 2:

"Opposing counsel is entitled to see any documents the witness refers to while in the witness box, and can later conduct a cross-examination in light of what a document might disclose."


And then the next paragraph:

"Counsel should assume that any document in the possession of a witness on the stand may be seen by the opposing counsel and/or the judge, and could find its way into the evidence even if counsel did not intend to introduce it."


And again, this is just fundamental fairness.  A witness can't be looking at a document, or getting assistance from a document on the stand, without the other side knowing what they are looking at.


The rest of the pages go through the narrow exceptions to this general rule.


Starting on page 931, it talks about using notes to revive memory, and the Panel members may have seen cases where this has happened.  And I agree that that's one instance where a witness can refer to notes on the stand that may not be formally entered as evidence.  That is not this case.


Page 938 has another category, past recollection recorded.  That's not what we are talking about here, at least that's not my understanding of what we are talking about here.


Page 939, police officers’ notes; obviously not what we are talking about here.


And finally, 941, unrepresented litigants; again not what we are talking about here. And those are the types of situations where you see a witness who is allowed to take something up that's not formally been marked as an exhibit.  And even in those cases, of course, the rule is that the other side gets to see it.  So, my basic submission on this point is that they shouldn't be allowed to take up their own copies of documents.  We should all be singing from the same hymn sheet and even if they are, the basic fairness demands that I get a chance to see those documents, inspect them and cross-examine on them.


MS. LONG:  Is that the last issue, Mr. Safayeni?


MR. SAFAYENI:  That's the last -- I saved the most fun one for the end, so that's the end.


MS. LONG:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Mondrow, can you start with that one first, and we will work backwards?


MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely.  Thanks, Madam Chair. So I did get this authority this morning a few minutes before the hearing started, and I appreciate Mr. Safayeni walking us through that.


This issue came to my attention late on Wednesday.  We were at the end, we being the gentlemen from Active -- who you will be introduced to in due course -- and I were at the end of our day of preparation, and Mr. Safayeni, to his credit, set me a note setting out his assumption about documents, which he’s just related to you, what he referred to as witness copies, and I asked him what he meant.


And I think, Madam Chair, there are two solitudes, because as surprised as Mr. Safayeni was with my response, I was as equally surprised with his suggestion.


As you know, the Board doesn't conduct its hearings that way.  I have never been before a regulatory tribunal that has conducted its hearings that way.  I don't spend a lot of time in court; the last time was probably close to articles or immediately thereafter, which was too long ago for me to actually remember.  And I will come back to that point in just a moment.


Mr. Safayeni made a couple of statements, and I want to comment on his -- one of them was it's one thing to use a document to refresh your memory or recollect past events; that's not what's happening here.  I am very surprised that Mr. Safayeni presumes to know what's happening here in respect of these documents.


In fact, what these documents are are documents he has already seen.  They are the documents that are before you that have been filed with you by agreement that the witnesses have, and they have made some notes on to refresh their memories to cross-reference other parts of the documents, to kind of think through the answers to questions in their direct examination, to prepare themselves for their thoughts and response to anticipated cross-examination, all the normal things that you would normally sit with a witness who is going to testify in a proceeding, including a regulatory proceeding, and prepare them for.


I mean, had we known that this would arise, perhaps I would have spent -- had we had the time, three or four weeks, so they could memorize all this stuff.  It didn't even cross my mind that that would be necessary. I am not at all familiar with that sort of practice.


This is of course a regulatory tribunal, and Mr. Safayeni refers to fairness.  Now perhaps with the information these are not fresh documents or documents from another proceeding or documents from another time, but rather the same documents that we have been trading with each other for weeks now, it will allay his fears a little bit.


But in respect of fairness, it's Active that's been prosecuted here.  The bias in this proceeding should be fairness to the subject of the prosecution.  The Active witnesses, Mr. Stedman in particular, has prepared a binder with the documents because that's how he has organized his thoughts.  He would like to be able to use that binder so he can cross reference various pieces of the record that is already before you, and that Mr. Safayeni is well aware of.


So that's what we are talking about here.  These aren't fresh documents which he has never seen.  These are documents with the witnesses’ own thoughts and ruminations on them, that they have made notes for themselves during their preparations.


I have already said it's never been the practice of this Board, to my knowledge, to adopt the process Mr. Safayeni is proposing.  No other energy regulator that I am familiar with has ever conducted its proceedings that way.


Now admittedly, this is a compliance proceeding.  It's not kind of a rate proceeding, or a tolls and tariff hearing, or a certificate of public convenience and necessity.  But nonetheless, the NEB has never adopted this sort of process.  The Nova Scotia UARB has never adopted this sort of process.  I haven't been before every regulator in the country, but I have never heard of it.


I don't really understand the concern.  Of course we have prepared.  There has been a year-long investigation completely unconstrained, with all kinds of requests for documents and records.  There are provisions for on-site inspections which weren't availed in this case, but could have been.  There has been an extensive exchange of information and positions, as you know.  The witnesses will be under oath; there will be a full opportunity for cross-examination.


This is how they prepared for today.  This is a very important proceeding for them.  The evidence says -- and they will testify to the accuracy of that evidence -- that they are at risk for $3.6 million.  It would be less than a full airing if their organized thoughts are off limits, if they are forced to stumble through documents that they had sorted in a way that they could manage and they are no longer able to do that.


There is nothing, of course, in the Board's rules, either the general rules or the rules applicable to these sorts of proceedings, that direct the practice Mr. Safayeni is referring to.  The Board can direct, of course, its own processes, and the Board's objective should be to get the best evidence that it can.


So my submission is the Board should proceed as it normally does.  It should give Active a full opportunity to be heard.  Active has exercised its right to request this hearing and I really don't see the prejudice or the concern, quite frankly.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow, could you please address Mr. Safayeni's second point, which is that he should have the opportunity to review the documents with the notes on them?  I would like to hear from you on that.


MR. MONDROW:  If Mr. Safayeni would like to review the documents with the notes on them, he is welcome to do so. My concern would be if that entails an adjournment and a delay of this hearing, and you have heard about our argument schedule, which I will address in a minute.


But there is nothing to hide.  So if Mr. Safayeni wants to take five minutes and see what the witnesses are going to bring with them to the stand, I have no concern about that.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Safayeni?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Just brief reply.  I mean, briefly in reply, I take absolutely no comfort in what we have just heard.  The fact that they are notes scribbled on existing documents rather than a fresh piece of paper makes no difference.  The problem is that they are notes I haven't seen before and that are not in the record.


And it's more than just the fact that I haven't seen them before, although that's fundamentally one problem.  What Mr. Mondrow just told you is that these notes include preparation for their thoughts and responses to cross-examination.  I mean, that is essentially saying that they have a script or bullet points that they are going to rely on for answers to certain questions.  That is not how witness testimony works.


The whole idea of witness testimony is you get someone in the box, you ask them questions.  It's not an exercise in reading rehearsed scripts.  That's not what this is about.


Now, Mr. Mondrow says he's been to other proceedings before the Board where this has happened.  I have not been in those proceeding.  I can't speak to them.  In an adversarial enforcement/compliance/disciplinary proceeding this is completely unknown to allow a witness to do this, and it would be an extreme departure from the standards of fairness before this or any other tribunal if it was allowed to be done here, that a witness could just sit there with notes that they have taken with Mr. Mondrow and refer to those notes in answering questions rather than give honest, unrehearsed evidence, as any other witness would.


If I -- and I would just add, sorry, just one last point.  If I have to review these documents -- and I don't know what they look like, I haven't seen them, but we are not talking about a five-minute adjournment here.  I am going to have to review them in detail, it's going to impact cross-examination.  We almost certainly will require an adjournment, and that's not something that's going to be worn by the enforcement team.  This is something that Mr. Mondrow has done in the way that he has chosen to present his case, and granted, I don't think either of us are playing "hide the eight ball".  I think there was an honest misunderstanding as to how things would proceed.  But I am not going to be rushed in terms of reviewing and adjusting my cross-examination on how this should all proceed with the witnesses, if they are allowed to testify with their own private notes up there.


MR. MONDROW:  I was going to object to the characterization of a lack of honesty, but I don't think I need to do that.


MS. LONG:  I don't think you do.


Okay.  I have heard from both of you on this.  Mr. Mondrow, other issues that you want to address?


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  Why don't I just run down the list for the sake of completeness.


So in respect of the contracts at tab 18, I don't disagree with Mr. Safayeni.  I do intend to go to a couple of the contracts, not to name names or provide addresses.  If the Panel has them the witness will have them.  So I just put that out because I am not sure they are completely irrelevant to the proceeding.  They are in the agreed statement of facts, after all.  But I don't think they need to be made public, and obviously you will form that conclusion when we get there, but I just wanted to note that.


And in addition to the reasons that Mr. Safayeni has cited for the suggestion that the contracts which are tab 18 simply be removed, I would simply add that that would certainly accord with Active's own concern about commercial sensitivity, having its contracts laid bear on the public record for all to see, and there are 101 of them.


And in addition there is a, as you'll be familiar with, an energy -- Electricity Retailer Code of Conduct requirement -- these are all electricity contracts -- that information about customers not be put in the public domain, and so Active has to obviously abide by that.  Now, that can be overridden by a ruling of the Board.  We don't think it's necessary in this case.


In respect of the proceeding being public, we heartily agree.  There is, as you will hear in the evidence later today, a very broad interest in this matter, and we believe it should be public.  And I am confident that as we go through, to the extent we need to refer to any customers or contracts we can do so in the way the Board's done so by reference to a number on the notice of intent schedules, notice of intention schedules, or the initials of the customer without breaching any confidences, so I don't foresee any issues in managing that.  Of course, we can deal with in camera requirements as they arise.  I don't anticipate causing any of those myself.


In respect of schedule, I have heard what Mr. Safayeni has said.  The original proposal we were discussing is, I think, his December 8th date gives him about 30 days for his argument, and he had suggested 30 days then for mine and two weeks for his reply, and I understand Mr. Safayeni's scheduling constraints and his other hearings.  I note one of them is actually for Board Staff.  He says he is the only lawyer on the file.  Well, he is at a downtown firm, but I don't doubt that's the case.  I have been under similar pressures.


So I can't really in good conscience argue much against that.  But I can and I will make one point.  So I am not actually objecting in a hard way to Mr. Safayeni's proposal as I have elaborated on it.  But the Panel needs to understand that every day that goes by entails a cost risk to Active.  If Active -- if the Panel found in favour of the enforcement team, Active would have to refund monies paid under the contracts according to what the enforcement team is asking the remedy be, and if the Board were to enforce that remedy, every day that goes by is further free electricity for these customers at Active's cost.  That's non-trivial.


They are also forgoing business in the interim, being somewhat in limbo in respect of their historical understanding of the requirements and the enforcement team's position, and indeed the industry as a whole is somewhat in limbo, as you will hear later today in the evidence.


Now, none of that addresses Mr. Safayeni's scheduling constraints, and I appreciate that.  It may, however, inform Active's proceeding if and when we get to submissions on remedy, and that is why I wanted to put it on the record.


So I am not in a position to consent for that reason, but I am also not objecting, and I will leave schedule in the Panel's hands.  I hope that's clear enough.  That's as clear as I can be.  If I can answer questions I'm happy to, but I have tried to be as clear as I can be.


And in respect of the documents, which I think was the last point, I have already made my submissions.  I think that was everything.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  The way I would like to proceed, I understand that you would both like to make opening statements.  I would like you to proceed with those opening statements and then the Panel would actually like to speak to both counsel as to how the day will proceed.  I would like to get a better understanding of the facts that are in dispute and what the witnesses will be speaking to, so I am going to suggest that your witnesses are excluded from the room while we have that discussion, and I think that may inform the issue with respect to documents.


MR. SAFAYENI:  We are in your hands, Madam chair.


MS. LONG:  Okay, and there are some other procedural issues that we might want to discuss with you with respect to submissions and the timing of that.  As I understand it, what you are proposing is that you would be doing final argument on penalty as well; is that...


MR. SAFAYENI:  Sorry, that's another issue that perhaps I should have raised in the uncontested category.  I think we had both anticipated doing penalty submissions at a later phase, so --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Because I was go to suggest that, that this -- there be a determination of the main issue and then if a breach was found that then we would deal with penalty.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think the parties both agree --


MS. LONG:  The parties agree to that?


MR. SAFAYENI:  -- that that would be appropriate.  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  All right.  Then, Mr. Safayeni, perhaps -- excuse me?


MR. BLUE:  Madam Chair, I am sorry, when you were taking appearances I didn't get mine in.


MS. LONG:  Okay.


MR. BLUE:  I am Ian Blue, and with me is Daria Peregoudova from the Gardiner Roberts law firm.  We are acting for Ontario Wholesale Energy Gas and Electric, and they are here to be educated by the proceedings.


MS. LONG:  So you are observing.


MR. BLUE:  We are observing.


MS. LONG:  Yes.  Okay.  So anyone else that wants to put in an appearance?


Mr. Safayeni.

Opening Statement by Mr. Safayeni:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


So you already have the enforcement team's opening statement brief, and I would ask if you have it handy that the Panel members take it out, because I may refer to it in a couple of spots during my opening.  But at the same time, I want to give you some comfort that I don't intend to go through it in detail.  You have it, you have read it.  But I do want to highlight a few key points and respond to some of the points made in my friend's opening statement, if I could.


This case boils down to a simple but extremely consequential question of statutory interpretation:  How do you properly interpret the word "consumer" in section 2 of the ECPA, and by extension the regulation?  And there is a very similar definition of "low-volume consumer" in the codes.


And the answer to that question is going to determine who gets the protections of the ECPA, the regulation, and the codes.  And you have been presented with two starkly different answers to that question in this case.  The enforcement team's answer is that you need to look at a customer's use at a particular location, a particular address, when you are determining if they are a consumer or not.  This approach offers the protection of the ECPA to a broad range of customers.  People like small business owners, people like restaurant operators.  You see these people in the contracts, if you looked at them.  People who operate bowling allies, people who operate small businesses, retail shops, corner stores, folks who aren't that sophisticated when it comes to matters of energy contracting and, frankly, exactly the type of people that the ECPA is designed to protect.


My friend's interpretation, Active's interpretation, is very different.  They consider use across all different locations associated with a particular customer under a contract and, in my submission, that interpretation would drastically restrict the scope of the ECPA's protections and exclude many of the types of people I just mentioned.


Now, of course, it's not the job of this Panel to just apply the ECPA to whoever you want.  That's not what I am asking you to do; that wouldn't be proper.  Your job is to interpret the legislation, not to make it.


But the task of statutory interpretation, and I know members of the Panel will be familiar with this, the task of statutory interpretation is more than just reading the words on the page.  You need to try and figure out what did the legislature intend the words to mean.


The text is important, of course, because it sets the general parameters of meaning.  Generally, you are not going to find a court or a tribunal that adopts an interpretation that is totally inconsistent and unsupported by statutory text.


But the text doesn't dictate the result, and that is a critical point to understand.  You need to consider elements beyond the text.  You need to consider the statutory context and above all, the legislative purpose of the provisions at issue, particularly when you are dealing with consumer protection legislation, as we are in this case.


But let's start with text.  So if you turn to page 3 of my written opening, you will see that I have put the definition of consumer there at paragraph 9.  I know it's elsewhere, too, but I think it just might be the easiest way to get it in front of us, if we actually look at the text.


It says consumer means in respect of retailing and electricity, a person who uses for the person’s own consumption electricity that the person did not generate and who annually uses less than the prescribed amount of electricity.  And of course, section 4(a) of the regulation goes on to set the prescribed amount at 150,000 kilowatt-hours.


Now look, I will acknowledge that the plain text of section 2(a) doesn't explicitly address locations or addresses.  But it also doesn't explicitly address the ability of retailers to aggregate consumers, or to measure all use under a given contract.  It simply talks about use without any additional details as to how we should measure or consider use in this particular consumer protection context.


In my submission, the definition is ambiguous.  It's not particularly helpful textually in resolving this case.  And that means you have to pay even more careful attention to the context and the purpose.


Now, Active takes a different view.  They say that the legislation is crystal clear.  As I say, I simply disagree with that, but I -- even if you find that the text is clear, if you don't agree with me on that, it's not the end of the inquiry.


I would ask you to flip a couple of pages to page 7 of my written opening, paragraph 23.  And you will see there that I have included an important quote -- I think it's a very important quote from Professor Sullivan, who has authored the leading text, of course, on statutory interpretation.  And she says that when you are looking at interpreting a legislative provision:

"A court must form the impression of the meaning of its text, but to infer what rule the legislature intended to enact, it must also take into account the purpose of the provision and all relevant context.  It must do so regardless of whether the legislation is considered ambiguous."


So even if you don't think it's ambiguous, it's not the end of the analysis.  The text is just the beginning of your inquiry.  You still have to look at context and purpose.


I will have more to say about Active's legal analysis in my written closing; I don't want to belabour the point now.  But for now, I will just point out that their over reliance on the, quote-unquote plain text of the act is simply not consistent with the modern approach to statutory interpretation.  It's doubly true when you are dealing with consumer protection legislation, and principles I will get to in a moment.


And if you look at the three main cases that my friend cites, one is from the Criminal Code, one is from Highway Traffic Act type offences, and one is from the tax act.  And these are contexts where courts have historically taken a more restrained view when they are interpreting legislation, because you don't want to charge someone with a crime and you don't want to tax somebody if it's not absolutely clear.  But an entirely different lens applies when we are talking about consumer protection legislation, as we are here.


So let's move from text to context.  By context, I mean looking at words beyond the actual provision, section 2 of the ECPA, that may shed light on what the legislature meant, and we make several points about context in our written statements.  I am not going to go through them all, I want to highlight two very briefly, if I might.


First, if you look at the act as a whole, the ECPA as a whole, it's clearly sending a signal that it's designed to apply broadly in favour of extending the ambit of protection.  And I think the key example of this, if you turn the page in my submissions to page 9, is section 6, which I have excerpted there at paragraph 30.  It says, look, if there's any ambiguity here, the ambiguity has to go in favour of consumer protection.  It's explicit right in the heart of the statute.


It doesn't make any sense to take such a generous and liberal approach when you are deciding who gets the benefit of consumer protections under the statute, but then adopt a very narrow approach when you are deciding who gets to enter the statute as kind of a threshold matter, who gets to step through and actually get the protections.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Safayeni, can I interrupt you for a second?  I realize you are not making your final argument now, but when I read that, it says any ambiguity that allows for more than one reasonable interpretation of contract supplied by supplier.  It doesn't say that any ambiguity that allows for more than one reasonable interpretation of the legislation.


You will address that difference, I assume, in your final argument.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, I am happy to address it briefly now.


MS. SPOEL:  I don't actually need to hear final argument right now.  I was kind of thinking opening statements might deal with what evidence we’re going to hear, and how it's relevant to the final argument.  We know what your argument is going to be; it's going to be -- but anyway.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I thank you for the question. I will --


MS. SPOEL:  I invite you in your final argument to address that.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, I don't want to leave the other Panel members in suspense.  With your indulgence, I will take --


MS. SPOEL:  They will read the final argument, too.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I will just take twenty seconds. I am not saying that this provision is determinative of the specific issue in front of us.  What I am saying is it's a legislative indication that the act is designed to be, as a whole, looked at in favour of broad protection.


I agree with you, it doesn't address -- and I don't say that in my written opening, and I am not going to say it in my written closing that it's determinative of this issue.  It's an indication of legislative intent as to how the act should be interpreted as a whole.  I won't go any further than that.

The other contextual factor is that the type of language that my friend is basically relying on here, language of aggregation, or all amounts under a contract, that type of language appears elsewhere.  It appears elsewhere in the ECPA and related legislation.  We go through that in some detail in the opening.

And if the legislature wanted to use that kind of language in the definition of "consumer" it could have, and it didn't.  Again, that supports our interpretation, and I think it's a hurdle for Active's interpretation.

But the biggest hurdle is the legislative purpose, because purpose, of course, is the driving force when it comes to interpretation.  Your whole -- the whole job is designed to figure out what the legislature meant, and what the legislature meant is for the statute to achieve its purpose.

That's why, if you turn to page 13 of my written opening, paragraph 47, the Supreme Court has said things like:

"The best approach to the interpretation of the words in a statute is to place upon them the meaning that best fits the object of the statute, provided that the words themselves can reasonably bear that construction."


Again, the idea isn't to be a slave to the words, but to recognize they are a vehicle to achieving legislative purpose.

For statutes like the ECPA, the starting point has to be to recognize this is consumer protection legislation.  It is designed to protect consumers by educating them, informing them, and ultimately empowering them.

As the Board put it in its Consumers Come First report:

"The goal is to ensure consumers have the information they need to make the right decisions about retail electricity and natural gas contracts and confidence that they are protected from unfair business practices."


That's what we are trying to do here.

Now, our Court of Appeal in Ontario has been absolutely consistent that if something is consumer protection legislation it has to be interpreted generously in favour of consumers, even if the plain-text meaning suggests otherwise.  And I have included in my opening -- I am not going to take you there, but I have included three cases from three different contexts, home warranties, travel agencies, and insurance, where the court has done exactly this.  They have said, look, if you look at the language, just the language, sure, you could make it narrow, but that's not the appropriate approach.

The consequences of Active's interpretation from a consumer protection standpoint would be disastrous.  And, as I say, I would urge you at some point if you haven't already -- and you may have already -- to flip through the 101 contracts.  Take a look at some of the customers who are going to be impacted here, small business owners, farmers, mechanics, bowling-alley operators, Chinese restaurant owners.  I mean, these are not the type of customer -- ask yourself, are these the type of customers who need ECPA protections, or are these the type of sophisticated business consumers that are savvy enough to operate without ECPA protections?

Now, I want to be clear that our proposed definition or interpretation of "consumer" would extend protections to some more sophisticated actors who maybe don't need it as much as some of the types of customers I just talked about.  Active makes a big deal of this in their submissions.  I am not going to run away from that, okay?  That is a by-product of our interpretation.

But let me say three things in response.  First of all, on the evidence, those kind of sophisticated corporate customers with dozens or hundreds of locations are a fraction of the types of customers that we see in the contracts in this case.  They are the exception, they are not the rule.

Second, whenever you have an objective threshold that determines whether somebody gets into the protective scheme of an act or not, there are going to be anomalous results.  That is an inherent consequence of having an objective threshold.

No matter how you interpret the definition of "consumer", it's going to capture some people who don't need the protection and it's probably going to leave out some people who do need the protection.  That's, you

know -- and our interpretation is no different on that score.

But my third point, and the most important one, is that the purpose of the ECPA is far better served by extending protections to a few actors who may not need them as much than by excluding a broad swath of customers who desperately do need these protections and, frankly, stand to be exploited without them.

The last point I want to make, I have talked to you so far about what is relevant to the task before you, text, context, and above all purpose.  I want to say a brief word about what's irrelevant.

I expect you will hear a lot from my friend, and you have probably seen this in the material already, about Board Staff's -- what he calls Board Staff's, quote- unquote variable approach on the issue of whether aggregating energy consumption across different accounts is appropriate or not when you are determining if someone is a consumer under the ECPA.

Now, I don't think the evidence actually supports that characterization.  I think that overall Board Staff has been consistent in how it's addressed that issue.  But even if the evidence did support my friend's view of things, this whole issue -- let me be as clear as I possibly can -- is an enormous distraction on the matter of the proper interpretation of the act.  It is totally irrelevant.

The job before you is to interpret statute.  And what Board Staff has said or done in past instances with individual retailers doesn't bear on that.

The FAQ, which is a publicly published document that considers -- that reflects the considered views of Board Staff I say is a relevant contextual factor to consider, not determinative, but relevant.

But whether the Board Staff decided to pursue enforcement in case A or not pursue it in case B or said something to retailer C does not impact what the legislature intended the words in the statute to mean.  It would be akin to a court saying, well, the police officer didn't charge this man with jaywalking when he crossed the street, so I guess that's not jaywalking.

It's not how it works.  Your job is distinct -- completely distinct and independent from that.  There's no principle of statutory interpretation that makes that relevant.  My friend hasn't cited any in his submissions.

So I haven't -- as one of the Panel members, Ms. Spoel, pointed out, I mean, I have used this opening to highlight aspects of my legal argument.  Factually, frankly, the evidence that I expect will be led is before you.  It's already in the witness statements.

So I thought I would use my time to highlight the legal issue rather than do a classic opening of what I expect to be led, because I expect that those witness statements will be adopted.

But on the legal issue, my submission in a nutshell is that enforcement staff's position is consistent, the statutory text, it's supported by the statutory context, and it's the only interpretation before you that best reflects the purpose of this consumer protection legislation, and for those reasons we would urge the Panel to adopt that interpretation.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Safayeni.  Mr. Mondrow.
Opening Statement by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Again I will start with the reference to two solitudes.  Mr. Safayeni says that Active's understanding of the legislation would unduly and necessarily and harmfully restrict it.  I say that the enforcement team's advocated approach would have this Hearing Panel stretch it out of all recognizable proportion.


Let me deal with one issue that Mr. Safayeni started with and concluded with, and that is this is consumer protection legislation.  This case is not about how to protect the consumers that the legislature has determined require protection.  This case is about what customers are consumers, quote-unquote, who are in need of protection, and there is a significant difference in those two concepts.


This is not your typical enforcement matter.  There are no allegations of sales agent misrepresentations; there are no aggressive sales agents at the door.  There are no voice recordings to be reviewed; there are no surprise renewals; in fact, none of the 101 customers named in the enforcement team's -- in the Board's notices of intention have complained, not one of them.


So where is the exploitation that Mr. Safayeni urges you to find?  They are all happy with their competitive energy supply arrangements, as far as we can see, and there is no evidence to the contrary.  And the fact that none of them have complained is strong evidence that there isn't an issue here for the Board to address.


There was a customer complaint in January of 2016, but it turned out that Active Energy's position in response to that complaint was, we believe -- I’m not sure, but we believe was validated Board's compliance staff.  That customer, and you will hear evidence on this, has three electricity meters, each recording consumption below the 150,000 kilowatt-hour annual threshold determined by the legislature for ECPA application.  All of those meters are located on a single property.


Ultimately, after some back and forth, which we will take you through later today, that customer was determined by OEB compliance staff to be a non-low-volume customer, and therefore the ECPA was determined not to be applicable.  We believe that to be the case, because that customer is not among the 101 in respect of whom the enforcement team is seeking this Board's process.  And that customer complaint, as it turns out, is not actually the basis of this enforcement action.


Until a few weeks ago, we really didn't understand precisely what the basis was for this enforcement action.  It was clear it had something to do with aggregation of customer's energy consumption, and how that impacts the applicability of the ECPA, and therefore the basis of the enforcement team's allegation that Active has breached the ECPA with aggregation practices, but precisely what practices it was wasn't clear to us.


There was a thorough investigation and questions were asked.  But those questions were asked about electricity consumption across multiple accounts, multiple locations and multiple bills, and precisely where that standard lay was not clear, at least the enforcement team's standard.


The notices of intention themselves refer to Active's business practice of, quote, "combining consumption levels of multiple accounts across multiple locations".


The notice of intention also referred in another paragraph to Active's business practice with respect to aggregation of a consumer’s consumption as being contrary to the ECPA.  That struck Active's principals who are here today, and me as well, as an odd statement given that a consumer, the very term used in the ECPA to determine applicability of the legislation, the threshold for that applicability as you know is the consumer's consumption.


Nonetheless, the notices of intent have generated a significant amount of interest and concern in the competitive energy supply community.  That's evidenced by the letters on the record, which we will refer to later today, and there are a number of people in this room who are neither with Active nor with Board Staff, but are active in the supply industry in Ontario.


With delivery of the enforcement team's opening statement, the basis for the proceeding was made clear to us.  The enforcement team asserts that this Panel will have to decide whether the ECPA should be understood and applied narrowly so as to exclude certain persons from its protective ambit, or should be applied broadly in a way that maximizes the number of persons entitled to protection.


That is not correct.  With great respect, this Panel cannot, as a matter of law, decide how the ECPA should be understood and applied; the legislature has made that determination, and they’ve made it crystal clear.


I would like to take you to the enforcement team's opening statement for a minute, which Mr. Safayeni had you look at.  And I would like to take you to the tab 1 and look at the legislation that we are here talking about today.  Let's look at what the legislation says.


On page 3 of 16 of the printout of the Energy Consumer Protection Act, 2010, the definition of consumer is provided at the top of the page under section 2, and consumer means, that means it's an exhaustive definition:

“In respect of the retailing of electricity, a person who uses for the person's own consumption electricity that the person did not generate and who annually uses less than the prescribed amount of electricity.”


And the importance of that definition is if you look at section 3, a little down the page under the heading "application", those are the people to whom this act applies.


But the legislature didn't leave it at that.  They went on to provide a definition of person, and you can see that in section 1 of the act, which is found on page 2 of 16 of the printout.  And I won't read that definition into the record, but it will be recognizable to each of you.  It is the legal definition of a legal individual.  There could be nothing more crystal clear than that definition.


What this Panel will have to decide is whether there is any ambiguity in these legislative provisions, either in their meaning or in the ability to apply them in harmony with the balance of the ECPA's energy consumer protection regime.  And only in the event of that ambiguity will the Panel have to determine whether that ambiguity requires that the words "at a single location" be added to operative definition of "consumer" as set out by the legislature.  That is, do those words "at a single location" have to be added to the definition of consumer either to make it make sense, or to allow it to work with the act.


And staying with the enforcement team's opening statement, if you could turn with me to paragraph 25 of the statement itself, which you will find on page 8, and this paragraph 26 sets out, I think, with crystal clarity the issue at hand.


The enforcement team sets out what the enforcement team says are the two reading-in options from which this Hearing Panel must choose.  That is, they are saying you need to choose one or the other.


The first of the two says "a person who uses for the person's own consumption at a single location electricity that the person did not generate."


If the enforcement team's interpretation is correct, that phrase must be added.  Because if you don't add the phrase, the meaning of this -- of the legislative provision is different.  That phrase restricts the meaning of person.


The second reading-in that the enforcement team says is required in the alternative is "a person who uses for the person's own consumption, aggregated across all locations, electricity that the person did not generate."


But if you take away that added phrase, "aggregated across all locations", the meaning of the statement doesn't change.  That is, the added phrase does not change the meaning of the legislative definition.  Remove the phrase, the definition stays the same.


On the enforcement team’s approach, if you add the phrase, the meaning of the word "person" changes.  And the ECPA works perfectly well with the definition unchanged as written by the legislative drafter.  And we will demonstrate today that in fact it does not work very well if you add the phrase advocated by the enforcement team.


I am going to take you to the law for just a minute to explain -- I hope to elucidate the relevance of what you are going to hear today.  And to do that, I will ask you to go to Active's opening statement, and I will ask you to go to paragraph 39.


In paragraph 39, we set out the balance of the statutory interpretation, elucidation provided by the Canadian courts, which you didn't find in the enforcement team's brief.


And in paragraph 39, we set that out based on the Supreme Court's description in the case of R. and McIntosh (ph).  Both parties agree that this is the law that applies, and I think it's important to look at that law as context for what you are going to hear today.  So here are the real rules about how to implement this modern rule of statutory interpretation.


First, and I am going to take a minute with this:

"The act as a whole is to be read in its entire context so as to ascertain the intention of Parliament (the law as expressly or impliedly enacted by the words), the object of the act (the ends sought to be achieved), and the scheme of the act (the relation between the individual provisions in the act)."


So there's the contextual requirement that Mr. Safayeni told you about.


Second, and this is critical:

"The words of the individual provisions", in our case section 2, "to be applied to the particular case under consideration are then to be read in their grammatical and ordinary sense in the light of the intention of Parliament embodied in the act as a whole, the object of the act and the scheme of the Act..."


The same touchstones you saw in point number one.  And I am going to emphasize this part of the direction:

"...and if they are clear and unambiguous and in harmony with that intention, object and scheme and with the general body of the law, that is the end."


Context doesn't matter anymore.  Context there is a test of whether the language dictated by the legislature works or doesn't or is clear or isn't.  And if it is clear and if it does work, you have no more jurisdiction to write law.  In fact, you have no jurisdiction at all to write law.  You have no more interpretive jurisdiction.  Your job is done.  And that's, we say, the result of examining these legislative provisions that have engaged this process.


And for completeness, I will refer quickly to points 3, 4, and 5, so point 3 says:

"If the words -- if the words -- are apparently obscure and ambiguous, then a meaning that best accords with the intention of Parliament, the object of the act and the scheme of the act, but one that the words are reasonably capable of bearing, is to be given to them."


But that's not the case here.


And the court goes on:

"If, notwithstanding that the words are clear and unambiguous and read in a grammatical and ordinary sense, there is a disharmony within the statute, statutes empowering materia pari," so similar law, "or the general law in an un-ordinary meaning that will produce harmony is to be given the words, if they are reasonably capable of bearing that meaning."


But that is not the case here.  There is no lack of clarity or ambiguity when read in the grammatical and ordinary sense.  There is no disharmony with the statute or similar statutes.


And finally:

"If obscurity, ambiguity, or disharmony cannot be resolved objectively by reference to the intention of Parliament, the object of the Act, or the scheme of the Act, then the meaning that appears to be the most reasonable may be selected."


But you don't have to go to points 3, 4, and 5, because there is no ambiguity and there is no disharmony and your job is at an end.


The enforcement team is urging you to interpret section 2 of the ECPA, the definition of "consumer", as broadly as possible.  The enforcement team is essentially urging the Panel to craft its own view of what the ECPA should be and to stretch the legislature's chosen language beyond its reasonable limits in order to do so, and that is not this Panel's role, and that is not its legal authority.


The express and completely logical and workable design of the ECPA is to identify those consumers in need of extra protection based on how much energy they buy and not how many locations they buy it for or how many meters that energy is delivered through.


The 101 customers listed in connection with the notices of intention are sophisticated commercial actors, and unlike the residential or small business customers which the ECPA was intended by the legislature to protect, these 101 customers are knowledgeable about business processes and commercial agreements.  They have had the benefit of presentations, discussions, analysis, negotiations, and in some instances, which you will hear about later, even formal requests for proposal processes in procuring their energy supplies.


Look at paragraph 91, please, of Active's opening statement.  In their materials the enforcement team refers to Hansard and a couple of brief excerpts from Hansard.  We have actually reproduced the Hansard attached to our opening statement.


And if you look at paragraph 91, we summarize what that Hansard reveals about the legislature's intention in respect of ECPA application.  And starting at the bottom of our page 24, I will read this in:

"The consumer class as reflected in the Hansard was described as, quote, everyday working people, ordinary Ontarians in the legislative debates.  The legislatures considered this class to be vulnerable to pressure tactics and misleading advertising from energy retailers.  Thus, the intended beneficiaries of ECPA protections were described by reference to..."


These are the phrases used in the legislature:

"...seniors on fixed incomes and new Canadians who perhaps do not have a strong command of the language; consumers who don't have the information they need to decide at the door; people who don't understand the language; consumers and individuals who can't protect themselves, constituents, friends, or family members, my mother-in-law; people who find themselves in the position of being alone, who don't have the supports necessary to make what is probably the right decision."


Those are not the 101 customers before you.  You will hear more about those customers later on.


None of those customers have complained to the OEB about their energy supply arrangements with Active.


So what would the impact of the enforcement team's urged interpretation be?  Could you turn to paragraph 97 of our opening statement, please.  This is Active's opening statement:

"To determine that the defined term 'person' actually means locations, as effectively urged by the enforcement team, would change the plain meaning not only of the term 'person' but also the term 'consumer', which relies on it, thereby alter the design and impact of the legislation and produce absurd results..."


And you will hear about those:

"...including capturing some but only some of the largest-volume energy customers in the province, consuming hundreds of millions of kilowatt-hours annually, produce results contrary to the intention of the legislature as reflected in the applicable legislative debates by failing to balance the interests of competitive energy suppliers..."


And that was part of the debate:

"...in particular in respect of the provision of competitive energy supply options for larger-volume energy consumers, fundamentally undermine the business-to-business market for competitive energy supply in Ontario to the detriment of those large-volume energy consumers who engage in it."


And you will hear evidence on that.  That was not what the legislature intended the ECPA to do, potentially destroy a number of Ontario energy supply businesses.


The enforcement team suggests this is an issue only with Active.  The evidence demonstrates that is not the case.  That is why there is broad interest in this proceeding.


The enforcement team says that the industry has been directed by the Board clearly on the appropriate standard to apply, the infamous FAQ.  The evidence will demonstrate that the remarkably obscure direction has clarified very little, and even on its own terms is wrong.  That is not the standard that the enforcement team now advocates.


The Board should not and cannot penalize Active and other Ontario competitive energy suppliers for following the clear rules set by the legislature.  If the government wants to change the rules they can change them.  If the Board wants to make more rules they can make them.  You haven't done that.  The rules have been followed.  Active and others cannot be penalized for following those rules.  This proceeding must be dismissed.


Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  I am going to ask that the witnesses leave the room, as we would like to speak to counsel offline.  So we will go off-air, and Mr. Waddick, Mr. Stedman, Ms. Armstrong, if you could please leave the room.


I anticipate that we will take our morning break after discussions, so don't feel that you need to be back in five minutes.  It'll probably be more like 20, 25 minutes.  Okay?  Thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, just before you do that --


MS. LONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  -- my -- Mr. Stedman and/or Mr. Waddick have asked if we could just chat for a minute about the documents.  To the extent you want to address that now, if I could have just a few minutes with them, I would appreciate that.  I can also have those minutes with them afterwards if that's easier.


MS. LONG:  Can you have those minutes with them afterwards --


MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely.


MS. LONG:  -- because, based on the discussion that we have, it may change the discussion that you have with them.


MR. MONDROW:  Happy to --


MS. LONG:  -- if that's clear, thanks.

--- On commencing in camera at 10:18 a.m.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Safayeni, Mr. Mondrow, thank you for those opening statements this morning.  When the Panel met to review this and go through all the documents, we were left wondering what it is that the fact witnesses are going to speak to.  I think you have both summarized in your openings that this is a matter of statutory interpretation and that is the matter before us.


We can see how when we -- if the determination was made that there had been a breach and we discussed penalty, then conduct, impact, those sorts of things would be relevant to what we need to consider, but at this point I think, Mr. Safayeni, you have said to us we need to consider text, context, and purpose, and Mr. Mondrow, you have made the argument that if the legislation is clear we don't need to go beyond that.


So I guess we are left wondering what it is that these fact witnesses are going to establish that is going to assist us in interpreting the statute.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So --


MS. LONG:  And to be fair, I mean, we have an agreed statement of facts, but I don't think on my read that Mr. Mondrow is disputing the fact that an investigation took place.  I don't think Active Energy is arguing -- I think they are very clear that they did not apply the protections based upon their interpretation of the legislation.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So let me try and address the concern, Madam Chair.  I think it's a fair question, and I think there's really two answers to it.


I mean, the first answer is we have -- Active and the enforcement team has perhaps somewhat different views on exactly the universe of factors that could potentially be relevant.  I mean, my position is my position and if you accept it, then maybe we could do away with a lot of this hearing.


MR. MONDROW:  Let's not do that.


MR. SAFAYENI:  But you may -- well, let me give you an example.  Mr. Mondrow has painted a picture about how the entire industry is going to collapse if you interpret things the way I am urging you to.


I am not sure how relevant that is, but it's an area that I acknowledge you could potentially consider as relevant in terms of the consequences of interpretation.  His clients have made a number of statements in their witness statements about what those consequences might be.  That's an area I would like to cross-examine on, for one example.


MS. LONG:  But does that change our interpretation of what the legislation -- I mean, I will guess that I will turn to Mr. Mondrow.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think he would tell you that it does. Let me just make the second point, and then I am happy to let Mr. Mondrow speak.


My second point is that I think we had both envisioned this hearing as an opportunity to get all the evidence out, including the evidence that could potentially be relevant to penalty.  And I think the witness statements were crafted with that in mind.  I think cross-examination strategies were crafted with that in mind.  So we wouldn't have to come -- although the penalty would be the subject of a separate series of argument, if we get there, we wouldn't have to bring everybody back and do another round of witness statements, another round of cross-examinations on penalty.


We are going to get everything out and to the extent you find it's relevant or not on interpretation, fine.  And to the extent we need to talk about it again when we get to penalty, that record will have been set.


So I think those are kind of the two thinkings in terms of having the full hearing, having the full hearing today.  And it's really from my perspective, I will be candid, I don't intend to be more than 10 minutes with Ms. Armstrong.  It's really the opportunity to cross-examine that's important for my perspective.  I mean, our evidence is already in the witness statements.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow?


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  You raise an interesting question.


So to the extent that context turns out as a matter of law to be important to your determination of the appropriate interpretation of section 2, then there is evidence to be heard, which would include absurd results, impacts on the industry of the position urged so the intention of the legislature is in the harmony with the scheme, inconsistency of staff's past conduct, and whether there is an a better way for the Board to deal with what the enforcement team argues is a problem, and penalizing one retailer to the tune of millions of dollars given the history of how staff has or has not handled this issue, what kinds of consumers would be protected by the interpretation urged, whether they are really the types of consumers needing protection.  So those are evidentiary matters that would be relevant to the extent context becomes a relevant consideration as urged by the legal position put forward by the enforcement team.


MS. LONG:  But Mr. Mondrow, your witnesses would be speaking to the factual -- I mean, they would be speaking to the facts.  Obviously, they are not going to be giving opinion evidence on who needs to be protected or not protected, are they?


MR. MONDROW:  No, but they will talk about the kinds of customers they deal with and whether those -- how they deal with those customers.  So they will go through things like you’ve seen in the witness statements about presentations, meetings, RFPs; these are the kinds of customers we’re talking about.  So that's kind of evidence that's relevant to considering the impact of the interpretation urged by the enforcement team, the types of customers being impacted, what the impact would be on their business, because that goes to legislative intent and is that really the intention of this legislation.


Now, if I could just address what I think is troubling you and your fellow Panel members -- and of course, if we get to penalty, we might need evidence on penalty and some of those same issue will go to penalty, like the staff's conduct and whether it's fair to penalize Active to the extent the legislation gives you any leeway in that respect in the way that they have proposed, given that this issue has been obvious to them and the way they have conducted themselves in response.


But that could be deferred, if we defer the entire penalty process to be undertaken if and when required.


But it seems to me that there is a preliminary -- probably two preliminary legal issues here, the determination of which might dictate whether any of that contextual evidence is actually needed.  And of course, we don't know how you going to determine those.


But if you were inclined to try to determine those based on the arguments, the positions filed, or some supplement of those, the first is whether the context is in fact important given the law on statutory interpretation.  That is do you get to that third, fourth, or fifth stage of the five stages I took you to that the Supreme Court has articulated or not.  Because if not, that's the end of the matter, at least that's my position.


And if you do have to get to the third, fourth or fifth position, that is if the context is important, then I think you do need to hear some of that evidence. But if you determine that given the clarity of the legislation, you don't have the jurisdiction to adopt the interpretation being urged because of the law of statutory interpretation, then all that contextual evidence is irrelevant in the end, which we argue it is.  Of course, we don't know how you are going to determine that threshold issue, so that's why we put in the evidence.


But if there was a notion that as a preliminary matter, the Panel would like to turn its mind to whether it even needs to proceed or might need to proceed to that stage, that would make some sense.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Safayeni, any response to that?


MR. SAFAYENI:  I would strongly urge against that approach.


I think the idea of essentially giving Active a no downside risk shot at getting its interpretation without any evidence is not appropriate.  I don't have the same view of the principles of statutory interpretation that my friend does.  He cited a criminal law case from 25 years ago, and a roadmap to statutory interpretation that I don't actually think supports his approach.


But in any event, I think context is important regardless.  My whole point to you is you can't just look at the words.  So whether it's ambiguous or not, I think at least some of the issues that I plan to cross-examine on are relevant for you today, and if we are going to spend the time to do cross-examinations, I think we should do it on issues that are potentially relevant to penalty as well. At least that's what I understood my friend and I had agreed to do for the sake of efficiency while we have these witnesses here and everybody in the room.


MS. LONG:  Okay, that's fine.  I certainly don't want to curtail either one of you putting forward your best case.  But we did want to get a better understanding given that this is a statutory interpretation exercise, as we see it.  But I understand what you are both saying.


We are going to break and consider your quasi-contested and contested items, and we will be back in twenty minutes.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:27 a.m.
--- On resuming public session at 11:28 a.m.


MS. LONG:  Please be seated.


The Panel has taken some time to consider the issues that counsel put before us, and the first one we would like to deal with is the issue of the witnesses' notes on documents.


As a tribunal we have somewhat more latitude with respect to the rules of evidence than they do in the courts, and it is our goal in this case to seek to get the best evidence.  The witnesses have prepared on the basis that their notes are on their documents, and we find that it would be procedurally unfair for them to continue without having access to that information.


However, we also agree that Mr. Safayeni should be able to review those documents, and Mr. Mondrow has consented to allow him to do that.  Mr. Safayeni, you have indicated that you think that this would take you more than five minutes to do, and we agree that it would be unfair to you to rush you in your review of those notes on the documents.


So is that leaves us in the situation where we think it would be -- we would be unable to continue today to proceed with those two witnesses.  We would like to speak to you about another matter, though --


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I am sorry to interrupt.  Could I --


MS. LONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  -- have a moment with my witnesses?


MS. LONG:  I really -- I would really --


MR. MONDROW:  I just want to -- I'm sorry --


MS. LONG:  -- like to proceed first, because you may not need to speak to them after you hear what we have to say.


MR. MONDROW:  My apologies.


MS. LONG:  We are not inclined to hear from the witnesses with respect to anything having to do with penalty until such time as and if we did find that there was a contravention.  So we don't want to proceed with evidence on that basis in any event today.


We feel that we have in the agreed statement of facts the facts that need to be established.  I don't think there is any dispute that these contracts were entered into, and I don't think there is any dispute that these contracts were aggregated.  I think Active is very clear on the steps that they took based on their reading of the interpretation of what a consumer is.


So on that basis the Board would like to propose that the parties come back on another day to do their final argument orally.  We have quite a bit of written material from you on the issue of statutory interpretation, but we think it would be most useful to ask if we could perhaps have a bit of a discussion when you come back and deal with the statutory interpretation issue.


We are still not sure how these fact witnesses would assist us in interpreting the statute.  We spoke a bit about this prior to the break, and I am not sure how their view helps -- their view -- I think, Mr. Mondrow, you had talked a bit about their view on who should be protected, and Mr. Safayeni, you mentioned some other things, but I think it really comes down to the only thing the factual witnesses can talk about is the steps that they have taken and who the contracted parties are, but it doesn't help us get into the, I guess, the minds of the legislature in what they meant when they interpreted the statute.  I think the witnesses can speak to consequences, but I don't think they can speak to context.


We would obviously invite witnesses to come back and speak to penalty if that was necessary.  So we would like to hive things off and deal with the statutory interpretation issue.  We have asked Mr. Richler in his capacity some questions with respect to procedure, the procedure that we have come up with.  He has given us some advice.  I would like him to repeat that for both you, Mr. Mondrow, and you, Mr. Safayeni, and you can make any submissions that you would like after you hear what he has to say, and then this Panel would like to hear from you on any submissions you have with respect to our proposed course of action.


So Mr. Richler, if you can please repeat the discussion that we had in the conferring room, thank you.


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I was asked during the break a moment ago whether in my view it was within the Board's powers to tell the parties that hearing certain evidence from these witnesses would not be of assistance, and what I told the Panel is that in my view it is within the Board's power to do so as master of its own procedure.


I did say that the question should be put squarely to the parties.  I think they should have an opportunity to respond to anything I say and to speak directly to the issue of whether hearing live testimony from the witnesses is really necessary in order to determine whether there has been a contravention or not.


Though I think they probably got a sense of the Panel's concerns from the discussion in camera before the break, it perhaps may not have been completely clear to the parties that the Panel was contemplating not hearing from the witnesses at all.  And as I have heard you, you would like to hear their views.


I also said during the break to you that in my view it would be possible to make a decision on liability in this case based on the agreed statement of facts, the statute, and the legal arguments, and as you said, the key facts -- namely, that the impugned contracts were entered into and that Active has adopted this aggregation approach -- are not in dispute.


So I do think, and I told you, that I think it is reasonable for you to ask yourselves whether the proposed witnesses would be able to shed any light on the purpose of the legislation or the context behind it, and if in your view they would not be able to do so, again, I think it is within your powers to say it's not necessary to hear from them at this point.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.


Mr. Safayeni?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I just want to ask first just a question of clarification.  So the proposal is that -- or the Panel's view that it's expressed is that it would prefer to decide the issue of liability only on the basis of the agreed statement of facts?  Is that -- I just want to make sure I understand correctly before I respond.


MS. LONG:  Yes, I mean, I don't think we need to get into the -- I --


MR. SAFAYENI:  I understand your position.  I just want to make sure that -- what the record would look like.


MS. LONG:  -- I think the facts are -- tell me if I am wrong, but I think the facts are established in the agreed statement of facts.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  I would -- I would appreciate -- this is not something that I'd prepared for, as the Panel might appreciate.  I would appreciate a brief recess, frankly, to get instructions on this.  I think it's a big enough issue, you know, impacting how we would proceed with our case.  I can't speak for Mr. Mondrow, but he is probably in a similar position.  I think we understand the Panel's view, and I think we understand what the Panel's option would involve, but I would like perhaps 20 minutes or so to -- or half an hour to seek instructions, because I think there are implications of this that I have to discuss with my client.


MS. LONG:  That's fine.  And Mr. Mondrow, you can have that time as well, obviously, to speak to your client.  Why don't we --


MR. MONDROW:  I have a clarification question if it's appropriate --


MS. LONG:  Oh, yes, sure.


MR. MONDROW:  And I will think about this, obviously, and speak with my client and my colleague, Ms. Van Soelen.  What I struggle with a little bit, Madam Chair, and I wonder if the Panel turned its mind to it and I am just not understanding, is part of the enforcement team's argument is that you need to look at the context of the legislation and the way the legislation is intended to operate and would operate under one or the other approach, and the witness statements, certainly Active's witness statements, deal with that issue.


So it seems -- I understood you to say that the Panel would proceed the make what I referred to earlier perhaps as threshold determinations, the legislative interpretation -- statutory interpretation determination based only on the ASF.  The ASF simply puts on to the record the investigative process and, as you say, Active's agreement that it has aggregated volumes across these customers.


But it doesn't speak to the types of customers these are, how those customers interact with energy suppliers, what the various impacts or implications of Board Staff's proposed interpretation would be.


And to the extent that, as I said earlier, the Panel proceeds past the first two steps of the Supreme Court's test, all of those facts could be or would be relevant to the further statutory interpretation.


So it seems to me that without -- and maybe I am missing something, but maybe without the witness statements also accepted in evidence, there would be an evidentiary gap unless we are right on the threshold issue, and I can't presume that, obviously.  It may be that I am misunderstanding.


MS. LONG:  I think what we are struggling with is the oral evidence -- well, I guess the evidence that your witnesses would put forward to help us understand what the legislature's intent was in drafting the statute.


MR. MONDROW:  So, for example, the Hansard, I will argue, reveals that -- and to paraphrase, the legislature was considering customers without supports around them who otherwise might not make the right choice.  And the evidence on the 101 customers involved is that they are businesses and they are not that type of customer which goes to, to the extent the Panel perceives there's any flexibility, interpretive flexibility, whether the interpretation urged by the enforcement team should be adopted or not.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Mondrow, those are only this -- they are their customers.  They can't speak to any other customers or any other businesses, only to their own specific customers.


MR. MONDROW:  True.


MS. SPOEL:  So is that relevant to what the legislature had in mind when they passed the statute, the fact that they carry on their business in a particular way and they have a particular group of customers, we thought might not be all that useful for us to know what the legislature was thinking.  And we question, I guess, whether or not they are qualified to tell us what the legislature thought merely based on what they happened to do.


I mean, if you look at door to door salesmen, you know, there are people who have bad business practices and there are people who have good business practices.  The fact that some are good doesn't mean the legislature wasn't concerned about the ones that are bad.


So I am not -- I guess that was our concern, that really we are not sure how helpful it is for the question of what's the legislative context to hear from one business about how they run their business and that who their customers are, because the legislature may or may not have had that in mind.  So I am not sure how far it takes us.  That is what our thinking was.


MR. MONDROW:  And that makes sense to me --


MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, nor do we think that the OEB enforcement team can really speak to that either, because they are not members of the legislature.  So we weren't -- that's sort of where we were coming from.


MR. MONDROW:  So that last addition, Member Spoel, is important from my perspective, because you heard in Mr. Safayeni's opening statement that look at the customers, they are vulnerable, they are farmers and body shops and so on.  And I appreciate opening statements are imbued with some sense of poetry on both sides, but if the legal argument actually is in determining whether one reading or the other of the legislation urged upon you works with what was intended, then consideration of the impact of one reading or the other on what types of customers are captured is relevant.


And I appreciate and I agree with you that the Board doesn’t have information before it on all types of customers.  But the only information the Hearing Panel has in front of it in respect of that topic, the customers that would be impacted by one view or the other, is information in respect of these customers.  That's the best evidence you have if you need -- if you find you need to proceed to that stage of the analysis.  And without the witness statements and associated perhaps oral testimony, I am not sure how you get at that.


So as I mentioned this morning, I think because this is a multi-step legal test, if the first step or two are determinative, the rest of it I agree is not necessary.  But if not, if you proceed to this sort of contextual analysis that's being urged upon you, then I think the context not only of the Hansard -- which I guess we could stipulate that that's agreed, it's not in the ASF but we could make it so without too much trouble -- but evidence on the types of customers that one interpretation versus the other will capture, and the best evidence you have before you -- I am repeating myself now -- is evidence on this 101 might well be relevant to your determination, it seems to me.


This is fresh, so I would like to think about it as well.  But that’s my immediate reaction.  And if we extend that to the evidence accepted to encompass the witness statements, I think that's different, although there is conflicting evidence in the witness statements and you'd need to be satisfied that you can resolve that based on the written material, I think.  I would have to think about it some more, but that's my impression.


So that's why I am struggling a little bit --


MS. LONG:  I am assuming the witness statements would not be adopted without cross-examination; is that fair?


MR. MONDROW:  It is fair, I think it's completely fair and I do think -- and this will be third time I have said so after it, I will not say it again.  But I am thinking this through as I am speaking, and I do think there are a couple of steps that can be taken based on the ASF and the legal arguments and then, depending on the determination of those, there are other issues that may require evidence, certainly the evidence that's been put before you.  That's my view.


MS. LONG:  So to summarize, if we were to do, let's say, step 1 and 2 of the test and you presented your argument with respect to oral argument, and then we made a determination on that, either we were satisfied or we needed to proceed as you have said, Mr. Mondrow, to 3, 4 and 5, it may be at that point that we need to hear from witnesses.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, it's kind of like a preliminary issue or a threshold issue.


Now, Mr. Safayeni said earlier today, and he will speak again I am sure, well, that wouldn't be fair giving Active two kicks at the can.  The context for this proceeding is that Active is entitled to a fair hearing. This isn't about someone -- and I don't want to use profanities, but took advantage of someone else, or someone stole from someone else, or someone's committed a crime.  This is about an enforcement proceeding which is an alleged breach of a statute, but the point of the legislation is Active is entitled to a hearing on this.  I don't say that in respect of the desire to proceed with oral evidence. I do agree with Mr. Richler that you have discretion as to process, and it's up to us to persuade you that one process or another is appropriate and you make that decision.


But I say that because characterization of my suggested multi-step process giving Active a free-by, or an out, or another kick at the can, even if that were the case, I don't see that as particularly offensive given who the subject of this enforcement proceeding is and who is on the other side, a public interest agency.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Safayeni?


MR. SAFAYENI:  I will speak to my client and get instructions, but my view remains that -- well, look, let me take a step back.


Mr. Mondrow's view is premised on the fact that we both accept his reading of this 5-step roadmap from 25 years ago, the Supreme Court in a criminal law case.


I don't accept that. I have taken you to other authorities that are more recent, more authoritative and more relevant in the consumer protection context.  So right there we have a problem, and I say that you need to look at the context, including the type of consumers who are at issue here -- the type of customers, I should say, that are potentially affected when you are making this type of decision.


So I strongly oppose the idea of having a threshold determination, is it clear enough because my whole point -- part of my whole point is you can't determine if it's clear enough based only on the language.  You have to look at the context and the purpose; that's the way to consider it.


I view my friend's approach to this as, you know, artificially separating things into two stages, and I just simply don't accept that.


So is there a way to simplify this and proceed only on the basis of the ASF?  Perhaps and, as I say, I would like to get instructions on that issue.  But I don't think there is a way to do this in two stages, as my friend suggests.  It either has to be done on a simplified record in one stage, or on an expanded record in one stage.


MS. LONG:  Just one question for you Mr. Safayeni.  How do you establish context?  Through cross-examination of these witnesses?  Is that what you are proposing?


MR. SAFAYENI:  As I say, I would like to get instructions on that.  There may be a way to do this without that based solely on the ASF.  But for example, I would not be -- I would not want to be constrained in referring to tab 18 of the ASF.  I mean, the contracts are part of the record and, you know, I take Ms. Spoel's point that it's not just these contracts that you need to keep in mind.  The legislature obviously wasn't speaking with just these 101 in mind.  But they are part of the record here, and I would want to be free to refer to that.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Safayeni, I don't want to get too picky, but I don't think they are yet part of the record because they are attached to witness statements that haven't yet been put into evidence.  So until they are actually adopted by witnesses, they are not yet part of the record.  Mr. Mondrow chose not to call --


MR. SAFAYENI:  They are in the ASF.


MS. SPOEL:  They are in the ASF, okay, yes; they have been filed.  I think we have to be careful about what -- you know, it's not like our regulatory proceedings where you pre-file evidence.  We have to be careful what -- about we talk of as being on the record.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, I think, actually, if we are being very technical, you are right, because the ASF hasn't been marked as an exhibit yet, but I think, I mean -- in any event --


MS. SPOEL:  No, I just want to be care -- make sure we are really careful about what's sort of on the -- what is in evidence already and what's not, and so far there isn't any evidence.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So far the only thing that's been marked is my hand-up from the courtroom procedure book.  So, I mean, I would maybe say this subject to Panel's direction and anything else Mr. Richler or Mr. Mondrow want to say.  I mean, I think you have given us a lot to think about.  I think we both need some time to -- Active's lawyer and myself both need some time to digest that and talk with our clients.  There may be a way to cut through this, there may not be, but I think we would need a little bit of time to consider the issues in some depth, you know, before letting you know how we would like to proceed.  All I can say at this point is I don't like the two-stage idea.


MR. MONDROW:  If I could, Madam Chair, just in an attempt to be helpful and repeat the caveat that we are all going to think about this, and I know the Panel will as well, so in that respect, I mean, it seems to me that if -- Mr. Safayeni doesn't accept this so far, but if there are -- if there is a way to take this in a step-wise procedure, it may be -- I am going to throw this out -- that the preliminary issues might be, what is the legal test, because that is a purely legal argument, and Mr. Safayeni has talked about our cases and so on, and that we could argue, and can that -- can that test be determined in whole or in part based on the ASF, and we could make submissions on those two questions, and those submissions could deal more extensively in consideration of what our respective positions are on the law with the need for context, and then the Panel could determine those questions, and that determination would dictate whether there is further evidence required or not.


So if the Board is inclined to proceed in a step-wise fashion that might be a way to cut the Gordian knot at least at this point, is argue about that very point.  The outcome of that argument may be that the Panel need not hear any more and they understand the test and they're applying it, or it may be we understand the test, we can apply part of it, but we need evidence on the rest of it.  I mean, that's essentially what we are debating here in kind of a legal vacuum in a way, so maybe we should do that more carefully.


MR. JANIGAN:  Just to return to an aspect I've already discussed, as I understand it, effectively the witnesses are to testify to the consequences to this particular company, and we are to use that evidence in a context to interpret the legislation or at least to rebut any presumption that's made that the context favours an interpretation that is expansive.  Is that a correct summary of what the witnesses are going to provide to us?


MR. MONDROW:  If you are attempting, Member Janigan, to restate my view, I don't think I have been clear.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  I think the context of the types of customers is relevant to understand the impact of the interpretation urged by the enforcement team.


MR. JANIGAN:  On Active Energy?


MR. MONDROW:  On the industry, because if the enforcement team's urged interpretation captures under ECPA protection the customers included in the list of 101, whoever signs those customers or similarly situated customers would be in breach of the legislation.


MR. JANIGAN:  And in that case you're saying that the test -- that the consequences to Active Energy are the consequences for the industry itself.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And Mr. Safayeni, with respect to the context that you are going to be establishing, or you hope to establish, is that to some extent looking at the similar kind of evidence but making different conclusions?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, let me put it this way.  This is always a little bit dangerous without instructions.  My initial view at this point is I could make my argument based on the ASF alone.  What I would not like to do is have witness statements accepted without testing them in cross-examination.  So I actually -- my initial view is I tend to agree with a lot of the views expressed by the Panel, and I think I said some of this in the opening statement, that a lot of what is before you -- and I don't fault my friend for doing this, because we'd thought about putting everything in on penalty and liability, but it's not particularly relevant to liability.  In fact, it's a distraction.


So I am okay, I am okay with that, subject to getting instructions otherwise.  But I think where I have problems is adopting a two-step, or now Mr. Mondrow wants to make it potentially a three-step, kind of process where we start saying, okay, well, let's argue about what the test is, now let's argue about if we have to look at context, and now we are looking at context and what is context, because that whole view of the world is not one that I necessarily share.  And frankly, even if we go back to Mr. Mondrow's step-by-step and even if I -- even if we both abide by that, it doesn't say you just look at the act, it says you look at text of the act, it says you have to look at whether it's harmonious with the object and the scheme of the act, another way of saying the context of the act, in harmony with the intention, object, and scheme in the general body of law.


And those are things that I think do require some discussion of the people that are potentially impacted.  I think we can do that based on the ASF.  I don't need to go beyond it at this point, is my view, but I wouldn't want to decide any issue of interpretation with as a first step saying, basically, are the words clear and do we need to go further?  I would want at a minimum the ASF to form part of the record and to inform whatever argument we make on interpretation.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, I think we have heard enough from both of you for now.


MR. MONDROW:  I agree.


MS. LONG:  I am going ask you to go away and seek instruction from your clients.  I am going to ask you to speak to each other and see if you can't come up with something and -- I mean, it looks to me that it's probably not possible to proceed with these witnesses this afternoon, given the issue with respect to the notes on the documents.


So on that basis, I think we need to discuss how we are going to proceed forward on this case.  So I ask you to please talk to your clients and talk to each other, and I don't know how much time you will need, but perhaps you could just keep Mr. Bell advised, and he will come find us.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:55 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:51 p.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Safayeni and Mr. Mondrow, before the break, we asked you to go away and seek some instruction from your clients and have a chat and come back and report to us.  So I am going to ask you, Mr. Safayeni, to go first.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So I have had a chance to speak with my clients and get instructions, and we are content to proceed as per the Panel's suggestion as I understand it, which is to proceed on the basis of the Agreed Statement of Fact for the purposes of determining the interpretation issue or the question of liability, and then if necessary if we come to the that point, having a further evidentiary stage to deal with the issue of penalty.


So we are -- the enforcement team is content to proceed in that manner.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Mondrow?


MR. MONDROW:  To cut to the chase, Active is not, and I will explain why.


The question, I believe, is whether you need evidence beyond the agreed statement of facts on the issue of liability.  I believe that's the question that the Panel has been struggling with.  And to me, that is do you need and is the evidence helpful additional context to the matters at hand.


Active’s position, as you know, is you don't get on the issue of liability to context at all, because the legislation is clear and works as written, and so your job is done based on consideration of the legislation, and perhaps the Hansard to inform the intention of the legislature.  And I don't think either of those documents is in issue, the legislation or the Hansard.

The enforcement team is the party arguing context is required to interpret the term "consumer."  That's not Active's position.  Active is responding to that position.

So the view of Active in response to the question that we are trying to wrestle with, which is the extent that you need evidence beyond the agreed statement of facts, is that if the Hearing Panel decides that context is required in order to interpret the legislation, the ASF is incomplete and, in particular, review of simply the contracts and the FAQ without further evidence is incomplete, and the rest of the evidence provided by Active must be considered in order to provide it with a fair hearing.


And so I must, with great respect, object to the ASF being accepted as is, without more.


Now, we have continued to attempt to try to be helpful and so I am going to repeat, hopefully more clearly, perhaps more nuanced, the position I suggested before the break.

If the Panel is seeking to expedite, if possible, this process, and I do believe that there are decisions that can be made without the factual context provided by the contracts and the FAQ which are included in the ASF.  And I believe those issues, and we could work on those if the panel was so included, but I believe those issues would be along the lines of the legal test of interpretation of the ECPA's section 2 definition of consumer and whether context is required to apply that test in the circumstances that is to this particular piece of legislation, and if so, what type of context is required.  That is what portions of the additional materials that were tendered with the anticipation that they would become evidence in the witness statements and the disclosures would be of assistance.  And to the extent that any additional context was found at the end of that analysis to be of assistance, and the Panel wanted to receive it, those portions would then get on the record and would of course have to be tested by cross-examination.

The parties could make submissions on threshold issues as I have laid them out, and I am happy to repeat those if it's of assistance.  And I do believe and Active does support the use of the ASF as a factual basis for that threshold determination, that is the facts of the investigation and the respective positions of the parties on how section 2 is properly read, and obviously including Active's practices of aggregation, all of which facts are documented and intended to be documented in the ASF; but without the contracts and without the FAQ, both of which, as I have said, in our view require further context if they are to be considered as an aid to interpretation of the legislation.  And those are my submissions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  We are going to break for five minutes and we will be back.

--- Recess taken at 1:56 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:24 p.m.


MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  That took us a bit more than five minutes to discuss.

There is no agreement between the parties as to how to proceed.  Mr. Mondrow, the Panel is still unclear as to how your witnesses will assist in the statutory interpretation exercise.  However, we do not want to prohibit Active Energy from putting forward their best defence.

So we are prepared to hear from all the witnesses, but only on issues relevant for the purpose of interpreting the statute.  So we do not want to hear anything having to do with penalty at this point.  Is that clear?

So Mr. Safayeni, I assume that you still want to call Ms. Armstrong?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes, that's right, Madam Chair.  And if it's okay with the Panel -- and I have discussed this with Mr. Mondrow, and we are prepared to do that now, and I think we can get it done by the end of the day, given that everybody is here.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  And then Mr. Mondrow, we are suggesting next Wednesday, which has already been set aside, as a time to have your witnesses speak to us.  I believe the afternoon is reserved.  It was in the procedural order.

MR. MONDROW:  I...

MS. LONG:  Mr. Richler, do we have that on hold?  We have it on hold.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, the date is on hold internally, but it wasn't communicated to the parties in a procedural order.  So it's in --


MS. LONG:  Are the parties available next Wednesday?

MR. SAFAYENI:  That's in the middle of the other enforcement proceeding.  I would very strongly hope that --


MS. LONG:  We are on that enforcement proceeding, so we too are very busy, but in the interests of getting this done we need to find some time.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I mean, I have booked that day right now for witness preparation for the witnesses that I was supposed to call on the Thursday, so, I mean, I frankly think it's -- I understand we are trying to get another date, but I don't think in good conscience I could do fairness to both cases by having to cross-examine in the middle of two days of another enforcement hearing when I am already booked for witness prep.  I am sorry about that, but I don't think I have another alternative.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow, are you available?

MR. MONDROW:  I am available, I believe -- I am sympathetic to Mr. Safayeni, but I am available and my witnesses are available, yes.

MS. LONG:  We are going to take a break so that you can get Ms. Armstrong up.  We are going to take a look at our calendar and see if there's any other options, but we want to move with this in a timely basis.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.

MS. LONG:  So we will take five minutes for you to get Ms. Armstrong ready, and then we will be back and proceed with her in-chief and then the cross-examination.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, could I just clarify?  I believe that the Panel was prepared if necessary to sit beyond 4:30 today.  And I obviously will not extend my cross-examination, but it's now 2:30, so --


MS. LONG:  How long do you anticipate being?

MR. MONDROW:  I think I have given a two-hour estimate, so that takes us right to the --


MS. SPOEL:  Do you need two hours if you are not discussing anything that has to do with penalty?

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I will review my script and try to stay away from that.  I am conscious that it may be -- I will do my best.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  Five minutes.
--- Recess taken at 2:28 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:39 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.  Mr. Safayeni, Mr. Mondrow, we are going to suggest an alternative date of November the 23rd to hear from Active Energy's witnesses.


We are going to suggest December 1st for oral argument.  I am going to ask counsel to speak to each other and see if those dates work, and speak to Mr. Bell.  But I can tell you the Panel is available those days.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair, the second date?  December?


MS. LONG:  December the 1st.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Okay, Mr. Safayeni.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So perhaps just before we start with Ms. Armstrong, I wonder if we should mark the agreed statement of facts as an exhibit because we haven't done so already.


MS. LONG:  Yes, let's do that.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And I will just note that the notices of intention are in the Agreed Statement of Fact.  I know some tribunals like the mark those separately, but they are part of the agreed statement so I am not sure that's necessary.  But I leave that in your hands.


MS. LONG:  I think that's fine.  We can just mark the one exhibit.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.


MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, that will be Exhibit K1.2.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  agreed statement of facts


MR. SAFAYENI:  So the enforcement team's first witness is Ms. Armstrong; she has not yet been sworn.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.

ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD ENFORCEMENT TEAM - PANEL 1
Birgit Armstrong, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Safayeni:


MR. SAFAYENI:  Good afternoon, Ms. Armstrong.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I can't hear.


MS. LONG:  Can you hear, Ms. Armstrong?  Are you able to hear?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, okay.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Members of the Panel, I am going to approach the witness just to provide her with the enforcement team's witness statement brief, which I am going to be referring to, if that's all right.


MS. LONG:  Okay.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think the witness may be having some trouble hearing me, so I am going to try and speak loudly. If you don't hear what I am asking you or what my friend is asking you, please let us know and we will deal with it accordingly.


So I have handed Ms. Armstrong a copy of the OEB enforcement team's witness statement brief.  This is the same copy that has been provided to the Panel; it doesn't have any additional markings or notations.  It's the same copy these been provided to my friend, Mr. Mondrow.


Ms. Armstrong, if you look at the first tab of that brief, tab A, you will see a witness statement of Birgit Armstrong dated August 18th, 2017; do you see that?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Have you reviewed that witness statement prior to coming here today?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I have.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And do you adopt those contents as part of your sworn testimony today?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I do.


MR. SAFAYENI:  If you turn to tab B, you will see a further witness statement of Birgit Armstrong dated October 18th, 2017, with ten tabs as attachments; do you see that?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I do.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Have you had a chance to review the further witness statement prior to coming here today?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I have.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And do you adopt the further witness statement as part of your testimony in this proceeding?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I do.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I would ask that the witness brief be marked as the next exhibit.


MR. RICHLER:  K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  Witness Brief for Birgit Armstrong


MR. SAFAYENI:  Ms. Armstrong, how long have you been an employee of the Board?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I started at the Board in November 2008.


MR. SAFAYENI:  What is your current position at the Board?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  My current position that is that of a project advisor in major applications.


MR. SAFAYENI:  How long have you held that position for, approximately?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Since July 2017.


MR. SAFAYENI:  What was your previous position at the Board?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Previous to that, I held the position of advisor in investigations.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And what does your current position relate to?  What is your --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  My current position deals with rate applications that come before the Board.


MR. SAFAYENI:  So it's not related to enforcement?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, it’s not.


MR. SAFAYENI:  But do you still spend some of your time on enforcement proceedings?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Currently, my time is spent 50/50 between the enforcement proceedings that I began while I was in my role as an advisor, and 50 percent on rates applications.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And are we currently in one of those enforcement proceedings?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  This is one of my enforcement proceedings, that's correct.


MR. SAFAYENI:  In total, while you were an advisor in the investigations group, approximately how many different licensees did you investigate?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  About ten, eleven licensees.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And can you tell me, just in brief terms, what process you would follow for your inspections?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I would initially review the information that was received prior to my involvement; an inspection could start in various ways.  There could be a complaint that starts it off, or there could be suspicion of non-compliance from another group within the Board, and then it gets escalated.


As an inspector, I would then take the information that was already gathered and gather further -- either gather further information, start -- do a notice of inspection, so that the licensee knew that we were going towards an inspection, and then gather more information as part of the inspection.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And in this particular case, you were not part of the investigations group when the complaint came in, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I was not.


MR. SAFAYENI:  But you were part of the investigations group when the inspection actually commenced.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I was.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And you were actually the person who made that decision, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I briefed my senior management and then a decision to commence an inspection was made, yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  You sent out the notice of inspection?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I did.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Can I take you, Ms. Armstrong, very briefly to tab 4, B4 of Exhibit K1.3, the brief of witness statements?


And could you just explain what we are looking at here?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Is it -- oh, the witness statement.  The first witness statement, right?


MR. SAFAYENI:  The further witness statement, the one with the ten tabs, looking at tab 4.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  4B?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, let's start with 4A.  They are all similar.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. SAFAYENI:  It looks to be a printout from the industrial relations inquiry system.  I am hoping you can help us with a little bit of background on what this is.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, this is what we now call an IRE.  It's an industry relations enquiry.  If I sometimes might refer to them also as MPEs prior to it being called an industry relations enquiry, could have been a market participant enquiry.


In any event, what it is is -- this is part of the Board's system to communicate with the industry, so it's an industry relations system where market participants or members of the industry have an opportunity to make enquiries of the Board to verify or clarify rules, ask questions, general questions, specific questions, and, again, there's various ways to make these enquiries.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And what are those various ways to make the enquiries?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Enquiries can be made either on a web portal on the Board's website, or through an e-mail or through a phone call or even in person if a person chooses to come in.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, and the responses that are provided to those enquiries, can those also take different forms?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, they can.  The way it works is an inquiry will come in, it will get classified, it will be sent over to a subject-matter expert, who will then respond to the inquiry.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And I don't want to belabour this, but if we could just go through it very briefly.  So for tab 4A if you look at page 3 --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah, that would have been an inquiry that came in through the system, through the web portal.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And it was -- and how was that inquiry responded to?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  This was responded to by the subject-matter expert for the ECPA, the Energy Consumer Protection Act, who would have been assigned this inquiry.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And did he respond to it through the portal or by some other means?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  This would have been responded to through the portal.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Very quickly, same exercise for 4B --


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I am sorry I have to interrupt and seek your guidance.  So the Panel urged me before the break to avoid any evidence related to penalty as opposed to the issue of interpretation, and my interpretation of that guidance was that evidence regarding the historical conduct or -- of -- or advice provided by the Board on the issue of aggregation went to penalty and not interpretation, and yet this tab that Mr. Safayeni is taking Ms. Anderson (sic) to is precisely that.

So I am -- I guess I am looking for some guidance on whether evidence related to historical enquiries and responses on aggregation is of assistance to the Panel in determining the substantive point that has been raised, just so I know how to conduct my cross-examination.

I wouldn't want this to go in and then not be able to ask Ms. Anderson questions about the substance of these documents.  That would be unfair.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So I think I can hopefully cut through this.  If we are happy to take what I will call the issue of Board staff's positions, past positions, on the issue off the -- if we are happy to take that issue off the table for the purposes of interpretation, I don't have to ask questions about this if we can all agree.

Now, I will note that my friend's opening statement, which is designed to only address interpretation, includes several paragraphs trying to make this relevant.  But if we are happy to strike those paragraphs, not look at this question as relevant to the interpretation issue, which frankly I don't think it is.  That was in my opening statement.  I think it's completely irrelevant.  If we can all agree and stipulate that it has nothing to do with interpretation, I won't ask any further questions about this.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, we are not striking anything or agreeing to anything.  I am asking for guidance from the Panel whether you would find this evidence helpful for the purposes of statutory interpretation.  With all due respect to my friend and the Panel, I think it's up to the Panel to determine what would be of assistance, and I'm happy to take that guidance.  I just would rather have it before half the evidence going in and then being urged or suggested to that I shouldn't be pursuing these documents.  So I am not striking anything, I am trying to respect the Panel's direction, so I would appreciate some guidance on that.

MS. LONG:  Well, the Panel is of the view that anything having to deal with aggregation would go to penalty.  It would not assist us in the exercise of the interpretation.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, if we could just continue for a moment if it's all right with you.

So these documents deal with the historical exchanges between the industry and the Board on aggregation, and that's why I identified them.  There are also questions that I would ask about different types of customers and how the ECPA under staff's formulation would be applied to those customers.  I am assuming that those would assist the Panel in interpreting whether the proposed reading of the legislation was reasonable or unreasonable.

So I just want to be careful about it, because those questions will talk about aggregation but not in an historical context, rather in a -- how would you apply your approach to this kind of customer or that kind of customer, which to me would be an interpretive aid, I would think --


MS. LONG:  Well, it's difficult for me to opine on questions when I haven't heard them, so --


MR. MONDROW:  Fair.  I just, because of your comment about anything to do with aggregation, I just wanted to -- I will obviously pose the questions and seek your guidance at the time.  Thank you.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  If I understand the Panel correctly, issues relating to how the Board has historically dealt with the aggregation question in responses to retailers or in individual cases involving retailers, the Panel does not consider it relevant to the question of how to interpret the statute.  If I have understood that correctly, that's going to speed things up considerably.

Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.

So again, it's a little bit difficult, because I don't know what my friend intends to ask and how much he is going the heed the Panel's direction, but I will -- I only have three more areas of questions, and they are going to be very brief, so just bear with me.

Ms. Armstrong, at tabs 5 through 9 of your witness statement there are documents relating to a multi-location verification script.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Correct?  And could you just describe briefly what that term means, "multi-location verification script"?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  A multi-location verification script is a tool to verify multiple locations that would be on one retail contract in order to make it less cumbersome for retailers to verify low-volume consumers that would be enrolled in one contract, retail contract, but still be under the protection of the ECPA through this verification script.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, and I am just going to take you to tab 9 --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Safayeni, we don't actually have tabs in ours --


MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't.

MS. SPOEL:  -- nor are the pages numbered --


MS. LONG:  No, so it's very difficult for us to follow along --


MS. SPOEL:  -- we have photocopies of coloured pages that have a tab number on them, but we have no way of flipping to them because we don't know where they show up and the pages weren't numbered.  So it's taking us some time --


MR. SAFAYENI:  All right.  I --


MS. SPOEL:  -- to find our way through the material.  And I haven't yet found tab 5.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I thought the versions we provided had tabs, but I could be mistaken.  In any event, I am happy to wait.

MS. SPOEL:  They probably did, but they were photocopied for us without the tabs.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, all right.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, if I could just add for the record, as I understand it, the fact that you have copies without tabs is through no fault of either party.  I think this was just an administrative thing, and Staff can see that you do get tabbed versions, if not -- well, at least for the next day.  Unfortunately, without pausing now there is not --


MS. SPOEL:  I wasn't suggesting it was anybody's fault, it is just that it was talking us some time to find our way through the material.  Just bear with us.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I thank you, and I want to make sure that you are at the right page, so I am happy to wait --


MS. LONG:  Just, can I just confirm with you that your tab 5 is a document dated March 10th, 2014?

MR. SAFAYENI:  Correct, Madam Chair, yes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. SAFAYENI:  But I am looking at tab 9, and page 8 of tab 9.

MS. LONG:  So now you are looking at a September 8th, 2016 document entitled "Notice of revised proposal to amend a code and to amend a rule".

MR. SAFAYENI:  That's exactly right, Madam Chair, thank you.  And if we turn to page 8 of that particular document...

MS. LONG:  One moment, please.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I can...

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Unfortunately, given the amount of work that’s gone into setting this up, I think this is going to be a disappointment.  But I’d better proceed with the question anyway.

If we go to page 8 of that document, you will see that in the notice -- Ms. Armstrong, are you there?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I have it.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You will see that it says at the top of the page, starting at the second full sentence:

"Based on these versions, the OEB will prepare verifications call scripts for single fuel contracts for contracts that are not entered into on the Internet and for contracts that cover multiple, non-residential locations.  The OEB is adapting the verification script set out in attachment G for use in the renewal context, and will be releasing that material in the coming days."


And my question for you, Ms. Armstrong, is simply whether you're aware of whether the OEB has, in fact, prepared verification call scripts for multiple non-residential locations, as referenced in that paragraph?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  As of this date, the issuance of the multiple location script is still pending.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, thank you.  I just have one last question.  Sorry, can we just go off the record for one moment?  I want to have a brief word with my friend that may simplify this.

[Mr. Safayeni confers with Mr. Mondrow]


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay, I am going to approach the witness and I am going to provide you with Active's brief of witness statements that is not yet an exhibit, but I anticipate it will be made an exhibit in due course.

Again, for the record, that's a clean copy of the witness brief, the same version that Active has filed and that's been provided to the Panel.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  So if you turn to tab -- I believe it's tab B of that brief, if the tab numbers accord.  Is there a tab B?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  There is no B.

MR. SAFAYENI:  I apologize, Ms. Armstrong.  Can you turn to tab 11?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.

MR. SAFAYENI:  You will see at tab 11 what appear to be a number of letters written by various entities.  Have you had a chance to look at this before?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. SAFAYENI:  And my question for you is a very simple one.  Of the entities that we see as having provided letters -- sorry, I will wait for the Panel.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. SAFAYENI:  We are looking at tab 11.  The first document is a letter, and at the top it says "Unicrown corporation", and it's dated October 23rd, 2017.

MS. LONG:  Proceed, please.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  So my simple question is from the entities that appear to have provided letters at tab 11, are you aware which, if any of them, are licensed by the OEB?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  In this list, I am aware of two companies that would be licensed as agent only; that would be NAS Consulting and Energy Shop.

MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you, Ms. Armstrong, those are all my questions.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, Ms. Armstrong.  Can we start with that last answer you gave.  What's the significance of the fact that only two of those letter writers are licensed?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I believe -- can you clarify that question?

MR. MONDROW:  No.  You were asked how many were licensed, and you gave an answer.  How do you think that helps this Panel to determine the question at hand?  What's the significance of that?

MR. SAFAYENI:  I am going to object to that question.  This is not a proper line of questioning for a witness.  It's obviously for legal counsel to make arguments about the relevance of answers given to the legal issues before the Panel.  The witness's opinion on how it's relevant to the legal issues is not even a proper question, much less relevant evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can you state for me, Ms. Armstrong, the standard or test which the enforcement team says should be applied to determine whether the ECPA applies to a particular customer?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  The threshold is 150 kilowatt-hours annually -- 150,000 kilowatt-hours annually.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Is that the entire test?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  It's a consumer consuming -- I don't have the text in front of me, but it's a consumer that consumes for their own use 150,000 kilowatt-hours annually.

MR. MONDROW:  And how do you define "consumer"?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  OEB Staff defines "consumer" in the context of the ECPA according to the FAQs as somebody who has a single location, one account, either below or above that threshold.

MR. MONDROW:  Did you say a single location, one account?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And if they have a single location and more than one account, each account being below the threshold but together being above the threshold, are an ECPA customer?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  If the threshold is exceeded at that point, if it's multiple -- if it's a single location then, no, I wouldn't.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, no, you wouldn't what?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am sorry, can you rephrase the question?

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  So the customers whose complaint gave rise to this proceeding, we will use the initials for the purpose of the record as CC; you are familiar with that customer?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And that customer -- and I won't take you through the sordid history of that customer’s -- the investigation of that complaint, unless and until I have to as it may relate to penalty.  But that customer ended up having 3 meters on one property, each meter consuming less than 150,000 kilowatt-hours a year, but in aggregate consuming more than 150,000 kilowatt-hours a year.

First of all, pausing there, is that your understanding of that customer's situation?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And is that customer a low volume customer for ECPA purposes?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  In investigating, I briefed my senior management on that situation, and the determination and instructions I received was that if it is a single, contiguous location, one single municipal address, then that would be not a consumer under the ECPA, a low-volume consumer.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And can you point me to any -- sorry, I am trying to make sure I am asking only interpretive questions.  Okay.  And let me give you another scenario.


If a customer has -- I am just trying to understand the application of the standard.  If a customer has two locations, one at which consumption exceeds 150,000 kilowatt-hours -- we will talk about electricity -- and the second at which it does not, consumption does not exceed 150,000 kilowatt-hours a year, how is the ECPA applied -- how should the ECPA be applied to that customer, in the Board Staff's view?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In Board Staff's view, according to the guidance that's available on the OEB website, which is the FAQs, I would need to know whether that is at multiple locations or whether that is at a single location.


MR. MONDROW:  That is what I asked you.  I said two locations.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Two locations.


MR. MONDROW:  One consumes more than 150; one consumes less than 150.  How are we to apply the ECPA?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Each location would be considered on its own.


MR. MONDROW:  So in staff's interpretation the term "consumer" means location; right?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.


MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Safayeni is nodding his head.  I am sure he is not suggesting his answer to you.


MR. SAFAYENI:  What I am suggesting is that the question is -- seems to be putting to the witness unfair -- an unfair characterization of her previous answer she just gave.


MR. MONDROW:  There is nothing unfair -- I didn't characterize any previous answers.  I am asking her a question.  I would like you to stop interrupting me, please.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Could you repeat the question, please.


MR. MONDROW:  My question was whether Board Staff considers the term "consumer" to be synonymous with the term "location", for the purpose of applying the ECPA.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  All I have is the FAQs, which stated after the ECPA was released with its threshold defined and consumer defined, any questions that arose out of that in regard to multiple locations were answered in that FAQ.


So all I can say as Board Staff, that my guidance was that if there was multiple locations they could not be aggregated for the purpose of defining a threshold for a consumer.


MR. MONDROW:  I will come back to my question in a minute, because -- and I don't fault you, but I don't think I got the answer I was asking for, but can we go to this FAQ for a minute.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Sure.


MR. MONDROW:  So if you can turn to Exhibit K1.2, which is the agreed statement of facts, and I think the FAQ is reproduced behind tab 19.  For the Panel, if you don't have tabs, it's the last few pages.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am not sure I have that in front of me.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, I won't give you my copy.  It may have some notes on it.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  So we will go to the FAQ that you've referred me to.  Could you just turn to tab 19 and tell me whether that's the document you are referring to.  It's the last tab in the package there.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, it is.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And can you show me where in this FAQ the issue of multiple locations is addressed?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  It is addressed under "verification and renewal script."  It is question number 4.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  And can you just read to me the passage that talks about location -- oh, I'm sorry, if you could wait for a minute, make sure the Hearing Panel has the document.  Yes, please.  Where does it talk about locations?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  "Can a consumer with multiple

locations which are each separate accounts that may individually consume not more than 150 kilowatt-hours of electricity annually or 50 cubic metres of gas annually but in the aggregate consume 150 kilowatt-hours or more annually or 50 cubic metres or more annually be considered a single high-volume consumer?"


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's the question.  So where's the guidance?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The question is no -- the answer to that question is no.


MR. MONDROW:  Could you read the rest of the answer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  "Each account is considered to be a

separate consumer for the purpose of determining whether the low-volume consumption threshold is exceeded."


MR. MONDROW:  So that's where the Board Staff gets its guidance from, that answer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So that answer says that each account is considered to be a separate consumer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In conjunction with the question.  The question was a consumer with multiple locations, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And the answer is "each account is considered a separate location"?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In conjunction with the question that it's multiple locations which are each separate accounts.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, you are saying that a location is an account?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I am saying that the question should be read in conjunction -- the answer should be read in conjunction with the question.


MR. MONDROW:  And is that how OEB Staff has read that answer over the years?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, it has.


MR. MONDROW:  I am pausing, Madam Chair, because the evidence is that that answer is wrong, but I don't expect that a review of that ad nauseam is going to assist you in your determination, so I will leave that for now.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Well, Mr. Mondrow, we are either going to get into that or we are not.  So making comments like that on the record is not helpful nor fair.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, Mr. Safayeni, I have to explain the position I am taking so that in the event that there are further processes involved in this matter my client's rights are protected.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  May I clarify my answer?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, absolutely, you are always entitled to do that.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In the past, OEB Staff has provided through the MPEs or IREs answers to the industry that an account is considered separately and cannot be aggregated.  Upon my review of the matter before us, we had to deal with multiple locations.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, originally you had to deal with the complaint from CC, which was one location, multiple meters, but you determined, as I understand it, that was not a breach of the ECPA -- sorry, that CC was not an ECPA customer.  Was that not the determination made on that complaint?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  It would not be my determination.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  So you don't agree with the Board's interpretation?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's not what I said, no.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, okay.  How was the CC complaint determined, Ms. Armstrong?  Has it been determined?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  As I said, I briefed my senior management on the facts, and the determination was that CC was a high-volume consumer under the ECPA.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And then you said in the past Staff has interpreted "consumer" -- you didn't say this.  I am paraphrasing -- "consumer" to mean "account"; that is, each account should be looked at separately.  That is what the Board Staff has done in the past; correct?  That's what you said, I think.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's what -- yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But is that currently the enforcement team's position or not, that each account is a consumer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In this proceeding, it has been determined that a single location in accordance with the FAQ before us here, determine --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So for the purposes of this proceeding we should understand "consumer" in the ECPA to mean "location"?  For the purposes of this proceeding?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The question of aggregation of accounts --


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But outside of this proceeding that needn't be the case?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I cannot speak to that.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, does the enforcement team not have a position on interpretation of the legislation?  I am not asking what that is, I am asking if you have one.  Do you have one?  You are speaking for the enforcement team in answering this question.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I am going to have to object.  These are legal questions.  What Ms. Armstrong considers the interpretation of "consumer" to be, that's a question for this Panel to decide, for Mr. Mondrow and I to argue about.  These are not questions to be put to a fact witness.  If he wants to ask questions about the investigation he may do so, but this is not a proper line of questioning for a witness.  These are legal issues.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I can't make an argument in a case when I don't understand the case we have to meet.  That's a completely inappropriate objection.  I am giving Ms. Armstrong an opportunity to explain what the test is that we are debating, and she can't do it, so I don't know how I am supposed to respond to that.  I want to continue my questions and get answers to them.


MR. SAFAYENI:  I would just say briefly she has stated what the position is.  Board Staff in its legal argument has stated clearly what the position is.  The notices have been clear.  I have had many discussions with Mr. Mondrow in this issue.  He keeps feigning ignorance.  He can make that argument in legal argument if he wants, but asking Ms. Armstrong over and over again, what do you think "consumer" means, what do you think "consumer" means, is not a helpful line of questioning.  It's not a proper line of questioning.  She is not here to give a legal opinion, she is here to give fact evidence.


MR. MONDROW:  May I continue with my questions, Madam Chair?


MR. SAFAYENI:  I am objecting, so I would like a ruling on the objection.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow, I think that you could perhaps rephrase your questions so that they are clear to Ms. Armstrong as to what test, and how she conducted her investigation.  And I would like you to tailor them to the facts and let's see how that goes, and then we can build on that if necessary if you are still unclear as to what the test was in this investigation.


MR. MONDROW:  With respect, Madam Chair, the test that is put in the notice of intention is the case that Active has to respond to.  So I will pursue those questions.


MS. LONG:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you. Let's try this again, Ms. Armstrong, and thank you for your patience.


I think what you have told me, and you will correct me, please, if I am mistaken, or if I am misstating what your evidence is -- you have agreed that the customer CC has three low-volume accounts or meters on one property and that customer was determined by the Board to be non-low-volume on the basis of aggregation of those three meters or accounts because they were on a single property; is that correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And as support for the enforcement team's position on aggregation, you pointed me to the FAQ which we looked at together.  That's the support for your position, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And the FAQ talks about accounts, not locations, in the answer, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  As I mentioned before, the answer should be read in conjunction with the question.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  So if the Board determined that the customer CC was not a low-volume consumer because the various accounts or meters on a single location could be aggregated for the purposes of determining the ECPA applicability, would that same determination apply to other customers with multiple meters on single locations in the enforcement team's view?  Or is it just a one-off?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I think that's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so let me get back to the question that took us down this circuitous path. What happens if there is a customer that has two locations, one at which consumption exceeds the threshold and a second at which it does not?  How do you apply the ECPA to that sort of customer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I would apply the threshold per the location.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, and if a customer consumes 13 million kilowatt-hours of electricity annually at one location, clearly that's not an ECPA-protected customer, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  And if a customer consumes 13 million kilowatt-hours of electricity annually, but does so across 100 locations, that will result in the customer being characterized as a vulnerable or ECPA-protected customer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Look, the way that the regulation is right now and the way that we have clarified the guidance of the ECPA, we would consider them low-volume consumers.


MR. MONDROW:  So the answer to my question is yes?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Per location.  Yeah.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And, Ms. Armstrong, you talked about taking your recommendation to your management and them making a determination on this question of how to define consumer when you are considering aggregation.  When was that determination made?  Was it after the CC complaint was commenced?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And did Staff obtain any legal advice in respect of that interpretation?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I believe that's privileged information.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, the fact of whether you got level advice isn't privileged.  Did you obtain any -- I don't think.  Did you obtain any legal advice?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, we did.


MR. MONDROW:  And was that obtained in the course of considering CC's complaint?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And was it from external counsel or internal counsel?


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think now we are getting pretty close to privileged territory.  I mean, the fact of legal advice is fine, but I am not sure we need to go down the road of exploring the circumstances around it any more than that.


MR. MONDROW:  Privilege applies, with respect, Madam Chair, to what the advice was, not who it was obtained from.  I would like an answer to the question.  Was it external counsel or internal counsel?


MS. LONG:  What's the relevance to who counsel was?  I am bringing you back to how we are trying to interpret who a consumer was.


MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that, I am trying to consider whether I have a good answer for you.


I guess it's relevant if the Board is going to consider interpretation, whether there is a legal opinion anywhere that interprets it in the way advocated by the enforcement team and what recourse the Panel may have to that opinion.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Obviously, we are never going to know if there is a legal opinion that support or doesn't support, or what the legal opinion says, because that's clearly privileged.  So I think we should just move on.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I will concede that point and I will move on, Madam Chair.


I am pausing only to vet the questions, it will be more efficient in the end.  I apologize for the gaps.


MS. LONG:  That's fine.


MR. MONDROW:  Just to explain, I don't fault anyone, including obviously primarily the Panel.  But we both prepared on the basis of an integrated cost.  So that's why I am pausing, but if you bear with me, I will weed out what I can for sure, thank you.


Okay.  So I am not going to ask you, Ms. Armstrong, more details at this time about the CC complaint and the various responses, because I think that will be of limited assistance on the issue at hand.


Can you tell me, though, whether the CC complaint was ever resolved?  Do you know?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, it was closed.


MR. MONDROW:  Did Active get notice of it?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I don't know.


MR. MONDROW:  Should they have?  In the normal course, would that be the practice?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I don't know.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Well, I am not sure it helps in interpretation, but I was curious.  So thank you for your answer.


Can you turn with me, please, to tab 11 of the agreed statement of facts?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  I am going to take you to the page numbered 3 at the bottom behind that tab.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And this is an e-mail that you sent to Chris Waddick at Active Energy on -- where is the date?  It’s on the bottom of page 2, March 20th, 2017, as part of your investigation that gave rise to these proceedings.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  And I haven't gone through the complaint history because the various types of responses and positions won't be of assistance at this stage.


But by now there's been a list of customers provided to OEB Staff in response to a request to provide customers determined to be non-low-volume as a result of aggregation across multiple properties.  There's been an exchange back and forth by this date, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you had some follow-up questions, and we see that in the third paragraph of your e-mail, and I want to ask you about a couple of these.


So one of your follow-up questions is Number 2:

“Please state if each account holder is billed individually based on the consumption identified at each meter.  If not, please explain why and describe the billing process.”


So how did that question assist in evaluation of whether to apply the ECPA?  Can you explain that, the bill?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I just -- I was curious if there was separate bills or one bill.


MR. MONDROW:  And so the answer was each utility account his its own -- oh, sorry.  Sorry, I was looking at the wrong one.


We have to flip back to page 1 to see that question and the answer laid out by Ms. Pytel in return.  And you see at the bottom of page 1, it says the utility bills each meter utility account separately?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And did that influence your thinking on whether this was an ECPA-protected customer or not -- sorry, whether these customers are ECPA-protected or not?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, I go back to the FAQs, which were the guidance that was available to the retailers.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But you asked about the meters.  You must have had a reason for asking about the meters, Ms. Armstrong.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In the past Board Staff has provided guidance that each account is -- each meter is an account, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so you were still pursuing that line of reasoning in asking that question?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  But ultimately, your management concluded that was not a relevant question?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Depending on the location; that's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So let's look at number 3, and I will not read the names of these customers into the record.  But you see in number 3, you identified specifically, I think it's six, if I am not mistaken, customers on the list that Active -- or the lists that Active had previously provided, and they are all condominium operators, condominium corporations, or retirement homes, at least in your understanding.  That was the basis of your question?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I was looking at a random sample with multiple meters, fairly high number of meters.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you said "Active Energy identified", and then you list five customers, and then you -- is it five?  I think so -- six customers, and then you say "as condominium operators corporation", which I assume means condominium corporations or retirement homes.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  So that's what you thought they were.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's fine.  And then you asked a bunch of questions about those.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  The first question was "please confirm that each account under the contract with these customers has its own individual address; i.e., unit number", and if we look on the previous page, the answer to 3A is "each utility account has its own address; i.e., unit apartment number."


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So all six of these customers fit that category, share that characteristic.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Question B is not relevant, given the answer to question A.  And then you asked "if yes, please explain why Active Energy considers these contracts as a single-location contract versus multiple-location contracts."


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Um-hmm.


MR. MONDROW:  And in the response -- and again, I am not going to name the customer -- Active says:

"In our response February 10th the customer L.S. was identified as both a single- and multiple-address customer with each location having multiple meters/utility accounts.  As for the other customers in question, each utility account is for a meter located at the single municipal address of Active's customer.  Active considers these as single-location contracts, since all of the customers' meters' accounts served under these contracts are physically located at the same municipal address."


And in the result, Ms. Armstrong, can you confirm that the customer L.S. is one of the 101 customers included in the notices of intention and the other five customers who otherwise are the same are not included in the notices of intention?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I would have to look at the contract.


MR. MONDROW:  You would have to look at the contract to confirm whether they are on the list?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Whether they are on the list, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  If you can give me the contract number?


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  So that is contract number 2.  So it's in the second notice, contract number 2.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Contract number 2 seems to be a different contract.


MR. MONDROW:  What do you mean by "a different contract"?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Not the one you were referring to in the e-mail.


MR. MONDROW:  It's -- no, sorry, we use the code B2, so it's from the second notice contract number 2.  We have two notices, right, which we are going to come to.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In the Agreed Statement of Fact can you tell me what contract it would be?


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, so it's -- I am sorry, so it's EB-2017-0223 is the EB number for the second notice, and it's contract number 2 under that EB number.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  EB --


MR. MONDROW:  2017-0223.  So in your ASF -- well, it's more towards the back of the contract tabs, but I will give you a minute to find that.  So the numbers go up to 84 or 85 and then they start again.  It's the second set of numbers.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The second?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, so contract number 2.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So L.S. is on the list, obviously, because the contract is in the package here.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And the other five customers are not on the list.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  And the only difference we have just been through is that L.S. has more than one location and the other customers are condominiums with multiple units, multiple bills, but all at one municipal address.  That's the only difference.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I believe that's correct.  Oh, the contract is upside-down.


I am sorry, can you repeat your question?


MR. MONDROW:  No, you answered the question.  I think you agreed that the customer whose contract we are looking at is on the list, is in the group of 101 in respect of which Active is alleged to have breached the ECPA, but the other five customers that are the same type of customer except that all those units are at one municipal address are not within the 101 customers.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.  Now, don't leave this contract yet, though.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  If you have, I am sorry.  I should have asked you not to before.


So if you could look at the schedules to this contract, which are where the various units are listed.  And I am going to ask you to confirm that all the addresses are in North Bay and they all -- they are all on one of two streets, and I am not going to name the streets, but they are two different streets.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  And are you aware that these two streets intersect each other?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.


MR. MONDROW:  You'd agree that all of these units are contracted for by the same customer, not consumer now, but in the sense of -- in your sense of the term, but customer?  It's one entity that signed the agreement?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Sorry, it's been copied upside-down.  I -- but, yes, I believe it's the same signature.


MR. MONDROW:  So in terms of the enforcement team's view on extension of these protections, why is it that this customer is different and more in need of protection than the other condominium customers, the other five?  What's the difference from a policy or a consumer protection perspective?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Look, if we apply guidelines like the ones that were given in the FAQ, you have to draw a line in the sand, and the line in the sand in the FAQ was multiple locations.  And if I look at a contract that has more than one location, then that's where I would draw the line.


MR. MONDROW:  But in terms of the customers, you would agree they are the same type of customer, by looking at the various contracts, and you had all six, the same type of customer, the same aggregate consumption, same type of business, same type of contracting parties, but this one falls on the wrong side of the line from the enforcement team's perspective because it's at more than one location?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, I followed the guidance that were given in the FAQs.


MR. MONDROW:  And that was the result of following the guidance.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Multiple locations, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And there is no other difference as among these six customers that you considered in making your report and recommendation; correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Still in the agreed statement of facts, if we could go to the actual notices of intention, please.  So that would be tab 15.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So the first notice of intention was issued on May 25th, 2017, and it attaches 86 contracts.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  And just to be clear, this investigation had started about a year before the notices were issued; is that about right?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I believe that's not right.  I'd have to go back to when the first e-mail was written by me, but I believe that was in August, August 30th.


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, sorry, I overstated it quite a bit.  It was about six months -- no, sorry, it was just under a year, maybe nine or ten months, around that range?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, I didn't mean to -- I was mistaken, and I apologize.


So about nine months after starting, you issued -- well, the Board issued notices of intent.  You drafted these, as I recall.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  These were drafted by counsel.


MR. MONDROW:  These were drafted by counsel?  I thought you said in one of your witness statements that you drafted them.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I drafted the attachments.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, fair enough.  And there are 86 customers on the first notice.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That is right.


MR. MONDROW:  And then there was another notice issued one week later, June the 1st, 2017.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And that notice has an additional 15 contracts.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Is there a conceptual or substantive difference in the type of contracts on the second notice versus the first notice?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  There is a slight difference, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  What's the difference?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That the second notice would be contiguous -- a contiguous property, so property that had multiple municipal addresses, but were abutting or joined properties.


MR. MONDROW:  Like the LS customer we just looked at, there on the second list?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And why is that distinction relevant?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am not sure about the LS customer, but --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, they are on the second list.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  It's actually LSC is the code; it's customer number 2 on the second list.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  But what is the relevance of that distinction from an ECPA interpretive perspective?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  All I can say is the reason for two notices was my misunderstanding from my senior management as to where the line in the sand was.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  You will have to explain what that misunderstanding was.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, I thought it was a single property, a contiguous property, with the emphasis on contiguous.


MR. MONDROW:  So your original thinking was that the 15 in second notice were okay.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  They weren't in breach, and you were correct.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, I was incorrect.


MR. MONDROW:  You were incorrect, okay. So we have gone from -- oh, that's interesting.  Okay I have to think about that a bit.


And so what was the reason that this issue was not resolved prior to the issuance of the first notice?  That is, why did you proceed with two notices?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, it was a misunderstanding that did not get clarified until I ran the disclosure by my senior management.


MR. MONDROW:  What do you mean by the disclosure?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  When I, it was a misunderstanding that came up after the first notice was issued.


MR. MONDROW:  And how did it come up?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  When I went over the contracts that were included as part of the disclosure package.


MR. MONDROW:  As part of getting the first notice approved?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, after it was approved and issued, and then we sent out a disclosure package.


MR. MONDROW:  So you sent a disclosure package in between -- you sent a disclosure package to Active in between the two notices?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, but there was discussions.  That's how the misunderstanding became apparent.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, I have lost you completely. I asked you why there were two notices.  Why were there two notices?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  There were two notices because I misunderstood my instructions from senior management, and I did not include all the contracts that should have been included in the first notice.


MR. MONDROW:  And when was that determined?  Sometime in between the issuance of the first notice and the issuance of the second notice?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Shortly after the issuance of the first notice.


MR. MONDROW:  Is that because someone reviewed it and said what about these, why didn't you include them?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  I see.  And you didn't include them because you thought what the FAQ said is if the properties are contiguous, that is they are different municipal addresses but they are all next to each other, that's appropriate for aggregation and you were mistaken, according to your management, in that respect?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  I see.  And was this any consideration during any of that of the impact of this approach on Active?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, it was a mistaken misunderstanding on my side.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, there's been a distinction in the materials between electricity and gas.  Is it your view or the enforcement team's view that the rule for gas should be different than the rule for electricity?  Or should it be the same rule?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am not aware of that, that there is a distinction.  The complaint started with gas -- with an electricity contract, so I focused on electricity.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But you are part of the enforcement team.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I was, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, you were part of the compliance team.  This was your investigation, you determined what contracts to ask for.  Was there any discussion of asking for gas contracts?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, we were looking at electricity contracts.


MR. MONDROW:  And who made that decision to look at electricity contracts?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That was how the investigation started and it continued.  But --


MR. MONDROW:  Someone makes a decision.  Who made the decision?  Was it you?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, when the inspection was commenced, we did not deal with a gas contract; we dealt with an electricity contract.


MR. MONDROW:  Right, and that contract was determined not to be in breach of the ECPA.  And then you went on for several months with further investigation and you never asked for gas -- all I am trying to determine is should the rule be different for power and gas, in your view?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And in the Board's view, as far as you understand it, because those views seem to be different, as I understand it now.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The FAQ speaks to both electricity and gas and that's what I would take as guidance.


MR. MONDROW:  That's a great answer, thank you; that clarifies it.


Am I correct, Ms. Armstrong, that other than the FAQ, there is no other guidance relied on by the enforcement team or the compliance staff in respect of this issue, other than the legislation?  So you have the legislation and you have the FAQ and in total, those two documents represent the guidance that you turned to?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And are there any other materials -- let me back up.


Let's stay with the FAQ.  What's the origin of the FAQ?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  At the implementation of the ECPA in January of 2011, shortly thereafter there was a clarification of the ECPA through frequently asked questions.


MR. MONDROW:  Let's go back to the -- turn up the FAQ for a minute, because I should have asked you this when we were there and I didn't.


So if we could go back to the FAQ which is at tab 19 of Exhibit K1.2, and I want to look at that Q&A 4 under the heading "Verification and renewal scripts" that you took me to before.


And just before I get there, is it Staff's view -- well, sorry.  This FAQ, was that approved by Board management?  That's a Board policy, right?  That's why you follow it.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  This is done by Board Staff, it's Board Staff's guidance.


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, it's Board Staff's guidance.  So it's not actually binding on you then, is it?  You could have a different view?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, it's Board Staff's view.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you’re Board Staff, aren't you?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Is it your view?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I would have followed this view, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But you would agree that the Board has never actually made a determination on this issue, as distinct from Board Staff?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And this Q&A is under the heading "Verification and renewal scripts."  What does this have to do with verification and renewal?  Can you help me with that?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  While the two issues, I believe, are distinct, if we go back to the verification scripts and the discussion about multi-location verification scripts, I think they have -- they can be connected.


MR. MONDROW:  Can you explain the connection, please?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  In order to make, like I said, the verification script is meant to extend the ECPA protection, and the multi-location verification script addresses exactly the issue that was answered in the FAQ.


MR. MONDROW:  The multi-location verification script answers exactly the question.  You mean the question Q&A 4 that we were looking at?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The question that multiple locations cannot be aggregated for the purpose of determining a low or high volume consumer.


MR. MONDROW:  The verification script answers that question?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The verification script, I think, just makes it easier to allow, to apply ECPA protection to multiple locations.


MR. MONDROW:  Right, yes.  For a customer determined to be an ECPA customer.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  But the verification script has nothing to do with that determination whether that customer is an ECPA customer.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, but the FAQ does.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But that Q&A doesn't.  Q&A you are relying on doesn't have any connection to the verification script, it's a separate issue.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Just for the purpose of the record, what Q&A are you talking about?


MR. MONDROW:  Q&A number 4 is what I said, I thought I said.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The FAQ.


MR. MONDROW:  I apologize if I didn't.  The FAQ Q&A 4, which is what we are talking about, has no connection to verification scripts.  I realize that's the heading it's under, but it's not really conceptually connected to that, is it?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, given that we are considering multi-location verification scripts, I think comes out of the guidance and the view of Board Staff that multiple locations cannot be aggregated.  And ECPA protection applies.


MR. MONDROW:  Can you open -- sorry, why can't -- oh, it's here in front of me, thank you.  Sorry.  It was buried -- Exhibit K1.3, which is your -- the enforcement team's brief of witness statements.  I want to take you to one of your witness statements, please.  And that will be -- your further witness statement includes at tab 9 a document dated September 8th, 2016.  And this is a notice of revised proposal to amend a code and to amend a rule.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  And the last attachment -- actually, the second-last attachment, I guess, to that notice is one of these verification scripts that we have been talking about.  Let me just get the right one here.


I'm sorry, I seem to have the wrong reference.  Bear with me if you could.  Ah, okay, the wrong tab.  My apologies.  If we can go to tab 7.  It's same exhibit, Exhibit K1.3, so that is a notice from the Board dated October 30th, 2015?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And if you could go to -- the last few pages of that tab are a script, so that's page -- there is seven of those pages.  If you go to page 1 of 7 of the last document in that tab.  This is one of those verification scripts that we have been talking about, and if you can go to page 3, you see the heading there about the middle, "if there are multiple locations read Q3".  Do you see that?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I -- can you...


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, so it's tab 7, right at the end of the tab.  Start at the back.  There are seven pages of script, and I'm looking at page -- let's start at page 1 of 7, so if you go from the back of the tab to page 1.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  You see that it says "verification call script for non-residential consumers, natural gas and electricity" at the top?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if you just flip with me to page 3, I was just trying to point out that this is one of those verification scripts that you've been referring to that deal with multiple locations, and you can see that halfway down the page on page 3 there is -- in italicized text it says "if there are multiple locations read Q3".


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And Q3 says:

"Our records state that the contract applies to more than one location of, name of the business, and this is the proposed way to deal with that in verification."


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And these scripts have been under development since the ECPA was put into effect in 2011?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I have no knowledge of that.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Well, you produced a bunch of material that go back to 2011.  In fact, the FAQ goes back to 2011, doesn't it?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Are you asking me about multi-location verification scripts?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Just to clarify.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, yes, I am.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I don't remember if it was 2011.


MR. MONDROW:  It's been several years.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  It's been several years, but I think 2011 is too early.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, well, that's fine, but it's been several years.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I believe it's 2014.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, maybe that's when the scripts were started, but there was discussion of it in 2011?  It was asked for by the retailers.  I think that's --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I have no direct knowledge of that, so I wouldn't know.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Well, I don't think much turns on it at the moment, so that's fine.


So I just want to go to page 1 of 7, because there is something I don't understand about this.  It says at the top of the page that:

"The script must only be used if all of the following conditions are met."


And the third condition says:

"No location covered by the contract has a level of consumption that annual is equal to or exceeds the amount prescribed under section 4 of Ontario Regulation 389.10 (general) made under the Energy Consumer Protection Act."


Now, section 4 is the section that sets out the consumption threshold for ECPA applicability?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so what is that condition intended to preclude?  Why wouldn't a multi-location verification script be useable if there is a location that exceeds the threshold?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Madam Chair, I don't necessarily want to register an objection, but I would invite my friend to maybe try and establish what the witness's familiarity with this document is.  This is a Board document, not a Board Staff document.  It's not clear if she even had any involvement in this.  To pick a sentence out and to ask her what it means without at least asking some exploratory questions to see if she has -- is in any position to comment on it I think would be helpful.


MR. MONDROW:  What does it mean to you, Ms. Armstrong?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, I am not -- I was not involved in developing these scripts.


MR. MONDROW:  Are you familiar with this document?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I have reviewed the document, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  It's attached to your witness statement.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I have reviewed the document.


MR. MONDROW:  It's been submitted in support of the enforcement team's position in this proceeding?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So why is that qualification on that script?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I could not speak to that.  I would not have been part of that discussion.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you have read it.  Does it mean anything to you?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I cannot speculate on that right now.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, sorry, that's a binary answer.  You have been seized with the issue of interpretation of the ECPA from an evidentiary perspective.  We have read a paragraph that connects with the script that you took me to in your direct testimony and in your disclosures and in your witness statement, and this script has a condition in respect of location, and you have no idea what that means or why it's there.  Is that your evidence?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Can you rephrase the question?


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  Well, I will phrase it.  I will state the question again, so let's read it.  "No location covered.".  This is:  "It can only be used -- this script for multiple location verification can only be used if four conditions are met."


And one of those four conditions is that:

"There can be no location whose consumption location -- whose consumption exceeds 150,000 kilowatt-hours."


And what would be the purpose of not using this script for that customer?  I don't understand that.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am not sure I understand your question correctly, but I will try to answer.  The locations that are below the threshold would be covered as low-volume consumers under the ECPA.  So I am not quite clear on what you are asking me, because this clearly states that it would be a location below the threshold.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, no, what it clearly states is that you can't use this script to verify a contract if there's one location or more that exceeds the threshold.  Which means you can't use this script to verify what the enforcement team says are ECPA-covered locations.  That's what it means, doesn't it?  And I am asking why that would be the case.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am not sure I agree with your statement.  I mean, our intent is to protect consumers at the location below the threshold.


MR. MONDROW:  Let's try this one more time, and then I will move on.


This script is written to allow suppliers to verify ECPA customer contracts where those contracts cover multiple locations, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  You will agree with me that the script can only be used on its own terms -- and I realize it's not final yet, but the proposal is -- still this script can only be used if these four conditions are met, correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So we have a scenario in condition C where we know already we are talking about multiple-location customers, right?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  And the condition says if one of those locations exceeds the threshold, you can't use this script to verify the others, right?  Isn't that what it says?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  Why is that?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I don't know.  I would not have been part of any of those discussions that went into development of the script.


MR. MONDROW:  Does it make any sense to you?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I said, I cannot give an opinion on that as I was not involved in the development of these scripts.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you have been involved in prosecution of this action, which is all about aggregating multiple locations, and I am asking whether that caveat makes any sense to you.  I just don't understand it.  Do you understand it?  Yes or no?


MR. SAFAYENI:  You don't have a right to demand a yes or no answer, and this question has been asked ad nauseam. The witness has said that she wasn't involved in the discussions, and doesn't have an opinion; that's her answer.


MR. MONDROW:  I am going to ask for a yes or no answer to the question, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  You question is does this make sense to the witness?  That is your question and you want her to say yes or no?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  I am not sure that helps us, given what she said before.  She said she is not familiar with the script, she didn't write it and she -- she can't answer yes or no.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, let's leave it at that.  Can I have a minute Madam Chair, please?


MS. LONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


Can I take you, Ms. Armstrong, to paragraph -- sorry, I should give you the exhibit first, Exhibit K1.3, which is your witness statements, and I am looking at your further witness statement, so that's behind tab B, and I would like to take you to paragraph 4.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  You say in paragraphs 15 to 17 of the joint witness statement, this is referring back to Active's joint witness statement, suggests that it is common practice amongst energy retailers to aggregate the energy consumption of customers across multiple locations for the purpose of evaluating whether that customer is a consumer entitled to protections under the Energy Consumer Protection Act.

“If such a practice did in fact exist, OEB staff was and remains unaware of such a practice actually being implemented by retailers apart from the present case."


I am not at all impugning the accuracy of that statement when you made it.  You have now seen a bunch of additional evidence, you have provided a bunch of additional disclosures.  We are not going to get into the details of those because they are not really helpful for interpretive matters.


But in respect of the understanding in the sector and whether they understand the interpretation to be as Active advocates it or as the enforcement team advocates it, and in respect of whether there is a practice of aggregating customers across locations to determine ECPA eligibility, this last statement, if such a practice did in fact exist, OEB staff was and remains unaware of such a practice being implemented by retailers apart from the present case.  Is that still your evidence, that you were and remain unaware of such a practice actually being implemented?


MR. SAFAYENI:  I am going to object to that question because this is very closely tied to the area of questioning that I was going into when retailers were asking about whether they could do certain things through the MPE and IREs, and there was a whole discussion.  In fact, I was cut off by Mr. Mondrow and I thought we had agreed that the whole discussion around what Board Staff knew or how they dealt with retailers in past cases, we'd all agreed that that was off the table for interpretation.


So I am happy not to rely on paragraph 4 for the purposes of the argument on interpretation, but I think we should all agree then that the idea of how common this was in the industry is off the table.  I thought we already agreed to that frankly, but maybe I misinterpreted it in my own mind.  If we are going to go there, then this opens up the exact area of questioning I was talking about earlier, and I thought we’d all agreed that that ship had sailed.


MR. MONDROW:  I think earlier what we had determined was that we wouldn't go into what Staff has advised people over the years.


My question is whether Ms. Armstrong, given what she knows today, still believes that this practice is not occurring in the marketplace.  That's a different question.


MS. LONG:  I don't understand how this goes to the interpretation of the statute.  It may go to penalty, it may go to what people knew or what the common practice is, but I don't think that helps us.


MR. MONDROW:  I suggest, Madam Chair, it goes to what the people who read the legislation think it means.  But if it's not helpful, I will withdraw the question.


MS. LONG:  The people who read the legislation?


MR. MONDROW:  The people in the marketplace who are operating under the rules, what rules they’re operating under.


MS. LONG:  Does that help us with interpretation?


MR. MONDROW:  I think it indicates the plain meaning of the legislation, yes.


MS. SPOEL:  Well, it's not an opinion poll.


MR. MONDROW:  No, it's not.  I gather from the questions the Panel doesn't find it helpful, so I will withdraw the question.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  No problem, thank you.  Actually, Madam Chair, I apologize.  But in respect of my professional responsibilities, I think will have to ask the question.  But I will move on, if directed to do so.


So the question I am asking is whether Ms. Armstrong still believes that this practice does not occur today in the sector.  And if the panel finds it unhelpful, I will take your direction.


MS. LONG:  We do find it unhelpful.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  Ms. Armstrong, back to you.  Do you know how much electricity a typical residential customer uses in a year?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  We apply 750 kilowatt-hours a month.


MR. MONDROW:  A month.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's fine.  That's about 8,700 kilowatt-hours a year, I believe.  My math is awful, but -- let's do it.  Let me do it for you, and I can ask Mr. Waddick, who is the numbers guy.


750 kilowatt-hours a month, so times 12 months.  That works out to 9,000 kilowatt-hours a year.  Okay.  So the ECPA threshold is 150,000 kilowatt-hours a year.  It's about 15 times that?  That's the kind of range we are talking about?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And your counsel in his opening statement made some comments about the different types of customers that the threshold would or would not capture.  Can you give some examples or describe a typical customer who would consume between 150,000 kilowatt-hours a year and 200,000 kilowatt-hours a year?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I cannot.


MR. MONDROW:  You have no idea what kind of business that would be?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.  I mean, I can talk about the contracts I reviewed and what kind of operations were on the lower scale of annual consumption, but I am not sure that's what you are asking me.


MR. MONDROW:  No, you are right, it's not.  All right.


Could you turn up your further witness statement.  So that's Exhibit K1.3.  It's tab B, and I am looking at paragraph 14.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Tab B?


MR. MONDROW:  Tab B, yes.  Paragraph 14.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And in this paragraph you refer to an Ontario Energy Board report called Consumers Come First, and you attach that report at tab 10 of your further witness statement, and you do so on the basis that the report discusses consumer understanding and awareness of the energy sector, the impact of verification calls, and the fact that many contract holders are unaware that they even have a contract.


Can you tell me what the relevance of that statement is to the question of how to interpret the term "consumer" in section 2 of the ECPA, please?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am just trying to clarify the question.  You are asking me how to interpret a consumer in this proceeding?  Because in this proceeding, if I look at the contracts, there seem to be contracts that were included that were multiple families on one contract.  I am not sure everybody would be aware that they were under a contract.


MR. MONDROW:  Can you point us to one of those contracts?  Without naming the customer, please.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  For example, contract number 6, which includes both businesses or a business, more than one business, but it also includes one, two, three, what seems to be private residences.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, contract number 6, and the customer initials are A.G.C.?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Contract number 6.


MR. MONDROW:  Is that the one we are looking at?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  A.G.C. --


MR. MONDROW:  A.G.C./S. --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  -- yes.


MR. MONDROW:  -- G.C.?  Okay.  And you are looking at Schedule A -- well, actually -- sorry, yeah, Schedule A.  And you're saying that I guess the last one, two, three -- well, sorry, the fourth, fifth, and sixth rows indicate to you that those are residences?  What's your suspicion there?
MS. ARMSTRONG:  That seems what it seems to me, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can you turn with me to -- this is not an exhibit yet because Active's witnesses haven't testified, but it's the Active Energy witness statements, and it's the initial witness statement, so it's the joint witness statement of Michael Stedman and Chris Waddick, attachment number 6, which is a table that lists some of these customers that we have been talking about and includes the customer you just pointed me to.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  So if you look down the left-hand column, closer to the bottom, you will see customer number 6 and the initials A.G.C./S.G.C.?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am on tab 6?


MR. MONDROW:  No, it's tab 7.  It's attachment 6, but it's found at tab 7 of the brief.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.  And it's towards the bottom?


MR. MONDROW:  Towards the bottom, number 6 on the left-hand column.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And you see the initials A.G.C./S.G.C., which is --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  -- the customer we have been talking about, and you see that the aggregate consumption there is 170,000 kilowatt-hours, 170 --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  You have no reason to question that aggregate consumption, but your point is that some of those locations appear to be residences, or could be residences.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right, could be.


MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, okay.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  So it goes to the mother-in-law statement we heard earlier about -- I don't know if one of these people would have been somebody's mother-in-law.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But the person that signed the contract is clearly a business person.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I don't know.  Like I said, there seems to be two -- three residences on there.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But there are -- well, can you look with me back at the contract you pointed me to.  The first page of that contract.  So that's contract number 6.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  This is just one example.  There's a few other contracts in here, but similar scenarios --


MR. MONDROW:  I understand, but this is the one you took me to, so let's start with this one.  You can take me to more if you wish.


So can you confirm that the name of the customer on this contract is a business name?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  The name up top is a business name, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And can you look at the signature line?  And that signature line the customer is also a business name?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And the title of the person that signed it, his title is owner?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, okay.  So I was asking you about the reports that you attached to your witness statement, and I gather from your answers and taking me to this contract you are suggesting that some of these multiple-location customers, at least some of the locations associated with these customers, might be those types of consumers that are addressed in the report.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Back to -- before we leave contract number 6, can you look at the name of the owner?  I won't read out the name because of our confidentiality requirements, but can you look at the name of the owner on the contract --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  -- and the name of the -- the names on those entries on Schedule A that you say could be individual residents and confirm that they are the same name?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, it goes back to my mother-in-law statement I just made.  From what I can see, it is the same name.  It could be somebody's mother-in-law.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, but the person that signed the contract is the person that owns the company.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, but there is somebody else on this contract.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, where is there someone else on the contract?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, I can't read it out, but the same last name, different first name.


MR. MONDROW:  In schedule A?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Right, and the middle initial is the same initial as the person's name in the line above it?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, that's a middle initial.


MS. SPOEL:  What is this relevant to in terms of the

-- I mean, this may go to the credibility of the investigation; I understand that.  But what relevance does this have to our interpretation of the legislation?


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Well, this actually started with when I asked that question what relevance the report has to the interpretation of -- but where we are now.  Okay, fair enough.


MS. SPOEL:  We are getting into the details of a contract and who the parties are who might have signed the contract, which again might be relevant in terms of should this one have been included, those kinds of things.  But I don't see how you are going to be able to bring this into a question of how we should interpret the meaning of the legislation.


MR. MONDROW:  I am sorry.  My understanding of the enforcement team's position is you need to interpret it broadly to capture all these vulnerable customers.  I am trying to determine what kind of customers the enforcement team thinks are vulnerable and not being captured.


MS. SPOEL:  I think you could ask that question, But probably not by going through the details of the particular customers of this particular entity, because that is an ex post facto thing of who they are -- their particular customers happen to be.  That is not, I don't think, context for what the legislation was trying to capture.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. SPOEL:  Whether or not they did a good job of their investigation or included people they shouldn't, that’s another whole issue.  But I don't think it helps us to get into the details of the specific customers of the specific entity to determine what it is the legislature intended when they passed the legislation, or what the context was that it was considering.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you, Member Spoel.  I asked you, Ms. Armstrong, why you referred to the Board's Consumers Come First report.  And maybe you can answer that question again then, because I may have gotten off track.


I thought you answered by reference to some contracts, but maybe let me ask you again.


Why do you think the Board's Consumers Come First report is helpful or informative in respect of interpretation of the term, the defined term "consumer" in the ECPA?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I think it goes to what the intention of the Consumer Protection Act is, and the OEB's intention to ensure through the ECPA that consumers are informed and make informed decisions when signing a retail contract.


MR. MONDROW:  So you think that the Board's report, Consumers Come First, is intended to apply and has considered consumers who consume in excess of 150,000 kilowatt-hours a year?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  If I look at the list you referred me to earlier on tab 6, when I looked at some of these contracts, some of them were small mom and pop shops, a curling club, a Daisy Mart, you know, maybe a customer has two Daisy Marts, and I think under the ECPA, those would be considered unsophisticated consumers.


MR. MONDROW:  But there is no debate that each of those customers consumes above the threshold, is there, in aggregate?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  But we are talking about in each location.  Yes, in aggregate, that's not disputed.


MR. MONDROW:  So is it only where some of the locations are apparently owned or occupied, or the utility bill is paid by a different person that is of concern?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I think the intent of the ECPA is to protect consumers and to ensure that consumers have adequate information for an unsophisticated consumer to make an educated decision on retail contracts.


MR. MONDROW:  Right, and the Board is to determine -- sorry, the legislation sets out a test above which it applies and below which it doesn't, right?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And the Board is to determine how to apply that test.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  What it means and how to apply it.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And enforcement team's position is you should apply it by looking at the consumption at each location?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  And that was information that was provided to the industry in 2011.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, that's not exactly what the FAQ says, but we have been around that.  I am not going to ask you about that again; I know what your evidence is on that.


So are you familiar with the business The Running Room?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you think The Running Room is a vulnerable ECPA customer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  It goes back to something I said earlier.  If you draw a line in the sand and you regulate with the OEB's mandate in mind that we are to protect consumers and that consumers ought to be informed, sometimes I believe that there is consumers that are more sophisticated and some that are less sophisticated.  But in order to have a guidance that the guidance was provided, I don't think you can pick and choose.


MR. MONDROW:  I understand that, but that wasn't my question.  Do you think that The Running Room is a vulnerable customer?


I understand your opinion on what side of line they fall, but do you think they are a vulnerable customer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And what about Money Mart?  Are you familiar with that business, Money Mart?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I cannot speak to the business structure of Money Mart; I don't know.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, you can't speak to the business structure of Money Mart?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Same with the Running Room.  I don’t know if they are franchised, or if it’s one business.  I wouldn’t know.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, let’s look at — and I am not suggesting the customers are in the materials here, but these are customer types I am talking about.


Let’s look at look at RBC Royal Bank.  You are familiar with RBC Royal Bank?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you think the ECPA should apply to RBC Royal Bank as a matter of consumer protection?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Again, I think if you have to interpret it, you to interpret it along a certain line.


MR. MONDROW:  I have heard that answer, but I have asked you a different question.  Do you think this they are vulnerable customers?  RBC Royal Bank, is that a vulnerable customer?


I understand you think that some of these customers will be caught because of the way this has to be applied.  I am just asking whether you think that customer is in need of ECPA protection, RBC Royal Bank?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I can't speak to that.


MR. MONDROW:  Really?  You can't speak to -- you can't answer my question as to whether RBC Royal Bank, one of the biggest banks in the country, is a vulnerable energy consumer?


I understand your position on how the apply the ECPA. But you’re honestly suggesting that they are potentially a vulnerable energy consumer?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I understand you have more sophisticated customers on this less and less sophisticated customers on this list.  Again, if you have to go in and apply a standard, you have to apply the guidance the way we have it.  I don't think you can pick and choose.


MR. MONDROW:  I understand, and you're apology for that would be overstating it.  But your concession and acceptance is that by applying the standard the way the enforcement team advocates, some big sophisticated businesses will be captured, right?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And that’s true with any standard you apply.  Sometimes it will capture who it’s intended to, and sometimes it won’t.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Whether that's your standard or Active's standard.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  And your standard would capture RBC Royal Bank?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  If that's on the list, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  But it's not your position that RBC Royal Bank is in need of that protection.  It would just be caught by the standard.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's right, and I think there would be a very small percentage of the total that would be captured by our approach.  On the other side, if the Board were to adopt your approach, I think more vulnerable consumers or unsophisticated consumers would be left out.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Sorry, I am going to interrupt here.  We keep hearing about RBC Royal Bank.  If there is a statement about the consumption of RBC Royal Bank across different locations in the record, I am not aware of it.  I don’t think it's fair to ask this witness in the air whether it would apply or not.  We don't know what the consumption at different locations is.


I get the point my friend is trying to make, but the specific example --


MS. LONG:  I get your point, Mr. Safayeni, and I get Mr. Mondrow’s point.  I think we can move on from RBC; I think the point has been made.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair, I appreciate that.


You'd agree with me, Ms. Armstrong, that the Consumers Come First report didn't survey and didn't consider those sorts of larger customers that we have been talking about, the millions of kilowatt-hours multi-branches common corporate owner type customer.  That's not what the -- I understand what you are telling me about the contracts here.  But that's not what the report was aimed at.  They were aimed at the small mom and pop shops, residences, small farms, consumers like that.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Low-volume consumers, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Almost done.


Madam Chair, it's 4:30.  I will be able to finish within 15 minutes if the Panel's able to indulge me and the court reporter has enough energy.


MS. LONG:  The court reporter's fine?  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you both.


Ms. Armstrong, a hypothetical customer, 50 locations, all consume 200,000 kilowatt-hours a year, the customer acquires another property, non-contiguous, just to simplify it for you, with one meter at 140,000 kilowatt-hours a year.  Under the enforcement team's approach that new property would be an ECPA, quote, "consumer", correct?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And can you just explain, then, how a supplier like Active would apply the ECPA in that scenario?  Their customer wants to add another property to Schedule A, and it happens to be a low-volume property.  How are they supposed to implement that?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  You mean apply the ECPA protections like a verification call, a price comparison --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, I'm asking --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  -- a disclosure statement?  I am not quite sure I am understanding your question.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  We have a customer with 50 locations that are all non-low-volume.  They acquire one new location.  It's a low-volume location.  They come to Active and they say, 'We want to add this location to our contract.'  What does Active do?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, they would verify them like every other low-volume consumer.


MR. MONDROW:  They give them a different contract, because it has to be a different contract, right?  It would have to be an ECPA-compliant contract for that location.  They can't just add it to the Schedule A.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  We are not speaking about retail contracts.  You can put it on the retail contract.  You would have to go and provide the ECPA protections.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, part of those protections are the form of the contract, are they not?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am sorry?


MR. MONDROW:  Part of the ECPA protections dictate the form of the contract.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So it would have to be a new contract if the old contract was not an ECPA-compliant contract.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So they would contract for that new location and then they would go through the ECPA process for that location.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that would protect whom, precisely?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Like I mentioned earlier, if you apply a guidance like that, you intend to capture and protect the broadest mass of people.  And in our approach, like I said before, it might apply protection to some sophisticated customers, but it would also apply protection to a large number of unsophisticated customers.  Like, I am not disputing the fact that in this approach you might catch up some people who have the sophistication that you discuss, but I think more consumers do not.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I think I have managed to cover anything that is even arguably non-penalty-related, and I am prepared to conclude this portion of the proceeding, my cross at least, for this portion of the proceeding on that basis.  Thank you very much, appreciate your patience.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Safayeni, do you have any redirect?
Procedural Matters:


MR. SAFAYENI:  I do not.  But before we leave I wouldn't mind addressing just a few of the housekeeping matters that we kind of raised and may have fallen off the radar at the beginning very briefly, with the Panel's indulgence.  It will be very brief.


MS. LONG:  Okay.


MR. SAFAYENI:  First of all, I am not sure we ever just got a direction on the record about the filing of the ASF without tab 18.  Is that acceptable to the Panel?


MS. LONG:  That's fine.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  Second of all, in an earlier ruling the Panel ruled that Active's witnesses could have their marked-up -- let's call it marked-up documents with them when they testify, but that I would be able to see a copy in advance.  I know we haven't quite set dates for the next date, but I would appreciate an order from the Panel that those be provided to me within five days so that I can review them with enough time ahead of our next hearing date.


MS. LONG:  Is five days reasonable, Mr. Mondrow?


MR. MONDROW:  Well, Madam Chair, let me address that.  If we are going to be sitting on November 23rd, which is some couple weeks from now, then we may well just let the witnesses memorize their notes and go with witness statement copies, in which case that provision won't be required.  So I am happy to advise Mr. Safayeni within five days whether we will use witness copies or not, and if we are we will provide the -- sorry, if we are not going to use witness copies, if they want to use their own copies, we will provide those for Mr. Safayeni's -- we will arrange inspection of those, and if we advise them that given the extra time the witnesses will just commit everything that they otherwise wanted to organize to memory in some other fashion, we will proceed on the basis that we are going to do it that way, if that's acceptable to the Panel.


MS. LONG:  That's acceptable.  Mr. Safayeni?


MR. SAFAYENI:  Yes, yup, that's fine.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MR. SAFAYENI:  And the last thing on the list is we now have our witness -- the enforcement team's witness brief has now been entered as an exhibit.  That document, the version that's been entered, does have again some confidential information.  I have two redacted copies that I can provide for the filing on the public record if that's acceptable to the Panel.


MS. LONG:  That's fine.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Okay.  And that's all I have on my list.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Mondrow, anything on your list?


MR. MONDROW:  No, Madam Chair, thank you.  We will get back through Board Staff to the Panel if that's okay on dates.  We may have a problem with a date, but I would like to confirm that first --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  I would like you to consult with each other to the best --


MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely.


MS. LONG:  -- that you can and come up with a common date that works, and then Mr. Bell can tell you of this Panel's availability.  I would also like you to provide estimates of how long you think you are going to be in direct and in cross.  That will help us plan how much time we are going to need.


MR. SAFAYENI:  Thank you.  And perhaps we can do the same for oral argument.  I don't know if the Panel had envisioned -- I think in my own mind I had envisioned a half day for oral argument, but if the Panel had contemplated something longer that might affect our own ability to schedule things.


MR. MONDROW:  We will talk about it and get back to you --


MS. LONG:  I would hope that the two of you would be able to do it in half a day, but if not --


MR. MONDROW:  I didn't know whether that was each, but perhaps we can consult --


MR. SAFAYENI:  I think we can rise to the occasion.  We will get back to you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  If there is nothing else then we are adjourned until our next meeting.  Thank you.  And the witness is excused.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:37 p.m.
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